A NATIONAL EPIDEMIC WITH SEVERE LOCAL

IMPLICATIONS

A Global to Local Review of Substance Use to Analyze the State of Addictions in Rural Eastern Ontario

Ayshia Bailie

Carleton University | 1125 Colonel By Drive, Ottawa, ON, K1S 5B6, Canada

Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Structure of Thesis Document	2
Report: From Global to Local	3
Executive Summary	3
Addictions in Canada	5
Evidence-Based Treatments	17
Evidence in Ontario	29
Report: Addictions in Rural Canada	39
Addictions in Rural Canada	39
Evidence in Eastern Ontario	50
Conclusions	59
References	61
Appendix 1: Data Sources and Geographic Analysis	68

Introduction

Substance use and addiction is an urgent public health concern which has greatly worsened across Canada over the last two decades. The rapidly escalating opioid epidemic has fostered development of more effective interventions bettering medical understanding of substance use, expansion of evidence-based treatments, and increased awareness on how associated harms disproportionately affect certain populations.

The many barriers to adequate health care faced by rural communities are well known but not necessarily well understood. The lack in data collection and analysis as well as collaboration with the communities affected leads to major gaps in research and inability to effectively address the unique issues faced by these regions. Research in rural Northern Ontario has provided insight into the critical prevalence of substance use and addictions in these communities, but there is still limited data examining other rural regions in Ontario. Rural Eastern Ontario will therefore be the focus of this honours thesis project to review the data currently available and determine the current state of substance use in these regions.

Structure of Thesis Document

A series of reports is used to gain a comprehensive understanding of the state of substance use in rural Eastern Ontario. This first report, Understanding Substance Use from a National and Provincial Perspective, will encompass a review of substance use data, populations most impacted, and treatment options across Canada and then Ontario to provide context for the more local lens applied to rural Eastern Ontario. The second report, Substance Use in Rural Canada, will describe what is known of rural health in Canada and Ontario, applying research from other rural regions to better understand the data analysed for Eastern Ontario. Lastly, utilizing ArcGIS Online and various data sources (Appendix 1), substance use services and resources as well as opioid-related harms data was visualized for Eastern Ontario, categorized by public health unit. Conclusions and next steps were developed by applying both background research and mapping analyses.

Report: Understanding Substance Use from a National and Provincial Perspective

Executive Summary

The dramatic rise in substance use disorder prevalence across North America has become an urgent and escalating health issue in need of rapid intervention. In 2012, Statistics Canada conducted a study concluding that 6 million Canadians met the criteria for substance use disorder, but even this value is thought to be an underestimate (1). It is likely this statistic has increased greatly since 2012 when considering the surging overdose crisis and significant increase in opioid-use, as well as opioid-related deaths in the past three years (2). In 2017, the cost of substance use was calculated to be \$46 billion, a 5.4% increase since 2015, which factored for associated healthcare, lost productivity, criminal justice, and other direct costs (3). Substance use and addictions in Canada is therefore multifactorial, involving social, health, and economic implications. In Ontario, the urgency of addressing substance use disorders has also exponentially increased over the last 10 years. The opioid epidemic is of specific concern, as from 2016 to 2020 there were 7,549 opioid-related deaths and a 59.8% increase in cases from 2019 to 2020 (2). The cry for action has been amplified as this issue continues to worsen (4), and it is becoming clearer that each region in Ontario has unique confounding factors contributing to their rates of addiction. These differences make it a priority to address substance use at a local level to treat those who are struggling most effectively. A recent understanding of addiction with a more scientific-approach has improved acceptance as a medical condition, expanding research and enhancing treatment practices, but there is still a long-way to go as prevalence continues to rise. The Covid-19 pandemic has also had severe negative consequences on mental health and substance use for Canadians, as closures and reduced capacities has reduced access to services and support for affected individuals (5).

Although recent acceptance of addiction as a medical condition has allowed for more indepth data collection and analysis of substance use disorder prevalence, the data currently presented by government health organizations fail to specify data regarding rural communities. City centers are often focused on due to the presence of more addiction services and convenient means of collecting data, disregarding the unique factors affecting substance use in rural communities. The amalgamation of substance use data across Ontario's public health units overlooks the distinct needs of rural addiction issues and creates more barriers to advancing services in these regions. Northern Ontario is frequently used as a model for rural health, but this ignores the diversity of rural areas across Ontario and how the issues they face may have different contributing factors depending on geography, culture, and services. This makes it much more difficult to specifically evaluate addictions in rural Eastern Ontario and creates challenges in trying to address problematic substance use in these regions.

To effectively improve public health measures addressing substance use across all regions in Ontario, this senior honours thesis will comprehensively review and organize

available data regarding substance use and addiction in rural Eastern Ontario to identify prevalence and current services offered. By gaining a better understanding of the current state of addiction in these regions, evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses can help deduce gaps and create more regionally impactful initiatives to address problematic substance use in rural Eastern Ontario.

Addictions in Canada

Substance use and addiction is a global public health crisis that has rapidly escalated over the last decade. Substance use disorder is one of the most prevalent causes of morbidity and mortality internationally (6), with alcohol- and opioid-related harms being of most concern. According to the most recent World Drug Report created by the UNODC, it is estimated that 62 million people use opioids worldwide (7). This value has almost doubled since 2010 and was last estimated in 2019, so does not consider the increase in opioid consumption since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic. There has been a substantial increase in use of opioids in Asia and Africa which has contributed to the global rise, but North America still reigns as the continent with the highest prevalence (7). The United States of America and Canada have historically had the highest prevalence of opioid drug use mostly due to the availability of such drugs when compared to less developed countries and have both seen an even greater increase in use since the emergence of Covid-19. Of greatest concern, is the spike in opioid deaths which has also more than doubled since 2010 (7).

'Deaths of despair', death due to suicide, drug overdose, and alcoholism, is a measurement which compares health and wellbeing of a country's' citizens and impact of substance use and mental health on their demographic. Canada and the United States has seen a substantial increase in deaths of despair, which has significantly impacted overall life expectancy, highlighting the urgent need for intervention to improve both quality and access to addiction and mental health treatments (8). The life expectancy of Canada has levelled for the first time since World War II, with one of the main contributors being opioid-related deaths. This negative trend was first observed in British Columbia, which has been in a declared public health emergency since 2016 due to significant opioid-related deaths, but life expectancy has since begun to plateau for all of Canada. Most deaths seen in the past five years have been males between the ages of 20-49, which therefore has a significant impact on life expectancy, with alcohol and drug use identified as the most important risk factor among young adults (9). Canada and the United States have the highest rates of prescribed opioids worldwide, and although the US sees considerably more opioid-related deaths, per capita opioid use, and alcohol-attributed health deficits, recent data shows Canada is paralleling increases in these areas which is a cause of great concern (8). Continuing health professions education programs have begun to gain a hold on prescription opioids and their potentially harmful effects, but there has been a major increase in non-pharmaceutical opioid use across Canada which accounted for 90% of apparent opioid deaths from January to June 2021 (9).

Alcohol and opioid use are currently a major focus for substance use disorder harms, as these sectors have seen the greatest increase in associated harms and affect the most individuals, although it should be noted that an increase in stimulant use as well as polysubstance use has been observed in the past few years. Substantially less mortality is seen with these substances, and toxic supply is less of a concern, but many of the initiatives and treatment options addressing the opioid crisis can also benefit those impacted by stimulant addiction and polysubstance use. Other addiction disorders such as gambling can also have detrimental effects on overall health and wellbeing of Canadians, but this report will have a greater focus on drug addiction and substance use disorder, specifically regarding opioid use, as it is an incredibly urgent public health crisis causing the death of thousands and therefore requires immediate intervention. Much of the urgency is driven by the increased use of illicit opioids especially use of fentanyl and fentanyl analogues. Fentanyl is a synthetic opioid that is 50 times stronger than heroin and 100 times stronger than morphine which was first detected in the Canadian illicit drug marker in 2013 (10). The rise in illicit drug use has exponentially elevated the rate of opioid-related harms in the last five years, accelerated by more potent drugs and the increasing toxic drug supply, which has become even more detrimental with impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic.

North America was already in a rapidly escalating overdose crisis before the Covid-19 pandemic dramatically overtook the world in early 2020, but the pandemic has impacted people who use drugs (PWUD) disproportionately in comparison to the general public and other vulnerable populations. When reviewing the trends of overdose deaths over the last couple of decades, it can be separated into four waves as elegantly explained by Bonn et al. (2021). The first wave mainly involved prescription opioids, which then transitioned to heroin causing a second wave due to higher potency and a non-regulated supply. With the recent increase in synthetic opioid use, dominantly fentanyl and fentanyl analogues, a third wave was observed which aligns with the opioid crisis first identified in British Columbia. The use of synthetic opioids poses greater risk due to higher potency and toxic supply as seen with heroin, but to a much greater extent making the traditional forms of treatment and intervention less effective than previously seen and the need for support to be much more readily accessible.

The Covid-19 pandemic introduced even more barriers, accelerating opioid-related harms and deaths, and initiating a fourth wave of the long-lasting overdose crisis. The intersection of these two public health crises has exacerbated the already worsening opioid epidemic, and subjected PWUDs to a syndemic where public health measures are contradictory to their urgent health and social deficiencies (11). By implementing social distancing, selfisolation, and border restrictions, the public health response to Covid-19 has been prioritized over other health ailments, and unintentionally harmed PWUDs in the process. Key harm reduction approaches adopted by many community health professionals highlight the importance of using with other individuals as the danger of overdose is therefore significantly decreased. This approach is essentially abolished in the context of Covid-19 as individuals are encouraged to physically distance and isolate as much as possible, and many services such as Supervised Consumption Sites and clinics which distribute harm reduction supplies were immensely strained during the multiple lockdowns and strict Covid restrictions applied. In addition, the closure of international borders has directly increased toxicity of the drug supply, making it a much more unpredictable and dangerous illicit drug pool that we have seen the consequences of (12). The government efforts needed to fight Covid-19 was of course necessary, but the unique emergency response provided a fake semblance that these measures were in place to protect *all* lives at all costs, when they clearly neglected a hurting population that have been crying for help long before Covid-19 was a concern. Public health efforts have therefore disproportionately harmed many Canadians who struggle with substance use during

the Covid-19 pandemic, and these consequences have emphasized the key groups which are most vulnerable and affected by substance use and addictions in Canada.

There are many populations in Canada which are disproportionately impacted by substance use and its associated harms. Although addiction could affect anyone, there are trends which show certain environments and circumstances leave some more susceptible than others. When reviewing the latest data on opioid-related harms in Canada, most opioid toxicity deaths occurred among males and individuals between the ages of 20 and 49 (9). From 2016 to June 2021, approximately 75% of opioid overdose deaths were male, over 25% were in the 30-39 age group in both sex categories, and about 20% were in each the 20-29 and 40-49 age groups. This data shows the prevalence of opioid use in young adult Canadians and emphasizes the need for early intervention and support to those who are vulnerable.

Substance use support specialized for youth is relatively scarce independent from general youth health initiatives, as the demographic is quite niche and not developed enough to be differentiated from adult addictions programs. Youth-targeted substance use programs are usually grouped into mental health initiatives, which can be helpful if co-morbidities are present, but can also make the system more convoluted and difficult to access if there are too many focuses of the program. In addition, the broad view of youth mental health efforts has made it quite labour-intensive to develop programs which are 'youth friendly' and specialized to a younger target population (13). It has been estimated that 70% of mental disorders manifest during adolescence, with unrecognized conditions being carried into adulthood (13). This statistic highlights the need to develop youth-targeted mental health and addictions interventions which are more age-appropriate and effective for adolescents. When looking at current services, many barriers can be identified such as stigma, lack of diagnosis and identification of warning signs, and large variance in treatment standards. One of the key inconsistencies which make these services less accessible is the definition of 'youth' within health organizations. In different jurisdictions across Canada, 'youth' are considered 25 and under at some institutions, 18 and under at others, and even 16 and under in some clinics, shelters, and social support programs. This discrepancy creates more barriers to accessing substance use and mental health supports as lack of coordination between service providers can produce gaps and make the system incredibly difficult to navigate (14). The opioid- and stimulant-related harms data identify the 20-29 age group as a large proportion of deaths, hospitalizations, and emergency department visits across Canada, which demonstrates the need for expansion and refinement of youth substance use programs, including education, prevention, and intervention initiatives which cannot be properly strengthened with the current ambiguity of 'youth'. The specialized needs of both adolescents and young adults who struggle with mental health and substance use is in dire need of review, and more targeted programming may assist in lowering rates and trends seen in adult demographics as well.

There are also many risk factors of substance use disorder that are found across all age groups. In a 2019 study conducted by the Public Health Agency of Canada, researchers asked coroners, medical examiners, and toxicologists in Canada what characteristics they observed affected the majority of individuals who died of opioid-related causes. The frequently reported characteristics included those who lacked social support, experienced trauma and/or stigma, had a history of mental health concerns, had minimal comprehensive healthcare and social service follow up, and a history of polysubstance use (9). These factors are disproportionately found amongst those of low socioeconomic status, especially those who experience extreme poverty, unemployment, and homelessness.

Canadians in the lowest income group are 3 to 4 times more likely to have poor to fair mental health than those in the highest income group, and it has been shown time and time again that low SES is a major risk factor for mental illness (15). Individuals living in extreme poverty face greater chronic stress and have increased exposure to environments that threaten health. Those of low SES are more often subjected to environments with greater uncertainty and conflict, traumatic events, and face more adversity which is detrimental to overall health (16). Being faced with more life challenges, but with access to less resources, puts significant strain on emotional wellbeing which manifests into higher prevalence of mood, anxiety, and substance use disorders (17). Prevalence is increased amongst these populations, but the major issue is the inaccessibility to quality treatment and health care services.

There has been immense growth in substance use research and treatment development in the last two decades, but even with the greater understanding of addiction and substance use disorder, there is still an observable treatment gap. In an international survey conducted by the WHO in 2018, it was found that even in high-income countries such as Canada, only 36.8% of those with mental disorders receive treatment (18), with room for underestimation due to self-report data collection and the many undiagnosed individuals unaccounted for. It was more likely for individuals with higher education to receive treatment, and this percentage was even less in lower-income countries. Considering mental illness is the leading cause of disability both worldwide and in Canada, this is particularly concerning (19). Within the mental health treatment gap, it has been found that substance use disorder has the largest amount of untreated individuals, with a treatment gap wider than any other general medical disorder worldwide (6). Unequal access to health care has been a recurring issue for many years, but this especially impacts those with mental health and substance use disorders as speciality sector health services see even greater under-representation of low SES individuals worldwide (18). Although economic inequalities are less pronounced in Canada when compared to the United States or other highly developed countries (8), the proportion of the population living below the poverty line has risen in recent years and with the current housing crisis, this number is expected to increase, potentially putting the mental health of many Canadians at risk.

Substance use disorder has high comorbidity with other mental health disorders making it a complex health issue which requires intentional intervention that considers factors such as social, economic, environmental, and personal impacts on a patients' health. It has been estimated that those with a mental illness are twice as likely to have a substance use problem when compared to the Canadian public (20). Many affected individuals have complex mental health conditions which contribute to their dependence on drugs, including depression, anxiety, trauma/PTSD, and schizophrenia to name a few (6). This adds another dimension to substance use disorder and plays a role in what populations are more vulnerable.

Across Canada, Indigenous peoples have high rates of psychological distress, mental health issues, as well as substance use disorder compared to non-Indigenous people (21). This trend has been seen amongst both off- and on-reserve Indigenous peoples and is substantially high within their youth populations. The devasting history of colonization and its detrimental impact on Indigenous communities is well-known, and has led to inequities in employment, income, housing, food security, and access to social resources in current society. Intergenerational trauma and isolation have had a major influence on the depleted mental health of many Indigenous families which has caused an increase in substance use. Far before the rest of Canada acknowledged the rising opioid crisis, First Nations leaders declared an opioid use epidemic in their communities in 2009 (22). This surfaced many other inequalities in health and gaps in services for the Indigenous peoples, making known some of the many social determinants of health plaguing their communities like minimal access to clean water and adequate housing. The supports offered to those struggling with substance use disorder are also less accessible to First Nations peoples, such as harm reduction equipment, and the current treatment options often displace individuals far away from their homes and loved ones. The lack in health resources further exacerbated substance use issues and this alienation has led to higher rates of hospitalizations and overdoses than in the general public and is a main contributor to the high rate of opioid-related harms in the Northern territories (23). In some provinces, First Nations peoples have up to three times the rate of opioid overdose deaths over non-Indigenous people and five times more likely to experience an opioid-overdose event (24). Covid-19 has caused Indigenous-specific rates to increase as well with an estimate that First Nations overdose rates increased 93% compared to pre-Covid pandemic in British Columbia (24). More substance use treatment centres specifically for First Nations and Inuit have been opened in recent years to provide a safer space for those needing treatment, but the mistrust in Western medicine and government-organized initiatives still serves as a barrier to accessing these resources and bridging this gap will require further reconciliation and intentional relationship rebuilding.

Another specific population at higher risk of substance use disorder are people who experience homelessness. Homeless morbidity and mortality rates are significantly higher than the housed population, and the relationship between health and stable housing has been demonstrated among diverse populations worldwide (25). Poor general health is reported amongst the homeless population with many people having pre-existing complex mental health conditions which can contribute to the onset of homelessness, and the deterioration of mental wellbeing is often seen with continued homelessness. There is a high prevalence of substance use within this population which was recently shown in a systemic review of homelessness across multiple high-income countries that concluded the most common mental health disorder was drug and alcohol use disorder (26). In a recent Canadian study, substance use was identified as a major barrier to maintaining stable housing with more than a quarter of participants self-reporting that substance use was the direct reason for loss of housing (27). Even if not stated as the direct reason for loss of housing, drug use could still be the underlying cause for many as it is difficult to effectively budget when needing to fuel your addiction simultaneously (26).

The high presence of drug use in shelters also exposes already vulnerable individuals to substances which can appear as an effective temporary coping mechanism, increasing substance use in the homeless population. Although it is difficult to accurately quantify the percentage of the homeless population which use substances, there does appear to be a strong relationship that often leads to a repetitive cycle of substance use and chronic homelessness. There are many barriers to breaking this cycle, especially as many inadequately housed people need to focus on day-to-day survival over improvement of health and wellbeing. The transient lifestyle makes it incredibly difficult to set and achieve goals, and often results in loss of important belongings such as ID and paperwork which is necessary to access many services. For example, accessing opioid antagonist programs like methadone requires having a valid health card to receive prescriptions at the drug store. In addition, the lack of a permanent address also poses a problem in Canada's healthcare system limiting access to many health and social services which could benefit these individuals.

All the vulnerable populations mentioned have a recurring theme of inaccessibility to health resources due to bureaucratic barriers as well as social barriers such as stigma. Many health programs fail to meet the needs of these populations, leading to underserved communities and a fractured relationship between healthcare professionals and marginalised groups (28). This feeling of unacceptance emphasizes the need to prioritize care that is rooted in dignity, trust, and compassion to promote health of all Canadians more comprehensively.

The emergence of the syndemic, the intersection of the Covid-19 pandemic and opioid epidemic, has exacerbated these disparities which has serious health implications. Already overburdened treatment and harm reduction providers had restricted capacity due to Covid-19 restrictions, with some programs having to close temporarily during government lockdowns. This further strained the system, extending wait times due to the need to implement Covid-19 public health guidelines effectively reducing availability. The reduced treatment and harm reduction availability and limited capacity for support has led many to engage in higher-risk substance use, causing further harm to many individuals yearning to address their health needs (5). There has also been a surge in virtual medical care which has the potential to make healthcare more accessible for harder to reach populations, but currently still has a lot of gaps especially for people struggling with homelessness as there is often limited access to technology or a phone number which can be consistently used to reach them (28). Although higher quality virtual programs could be developed to address substance use which had a positive impact on some, these services are still not equitably distributed or accessible to all populations and has not sufficiently filled the gap produced by the pandemic (5). As discussed earlier, the pandemic has had significant negative impacts on mental health and substance use, but as seen here, more specific detrimental effects on those who use opioids.

Due to the diverse populations at risk, and the complex mental health present within these populations, there therefore cannot be one universal solution to the opioid crisis and substance use intervention. Unique needs are seen in various communities and populations, which must be considered when producing effective intervention. The life and death manner of the issue makes immediate action necessary, especially when considering the future model of opioid deaths designed by public health experts, which may require radical policy change and expansion of treatment options for affected individuals. Long-term strategies need to be developed in parallel to truly address the evolving public health crisis and as we continue to learn from our interventions while prioritizing applying feedback from those directly affected. A collaborative approach between physicians, public health units, and the individuals and families involved is necessary to tackle the issue as a united front, or we will see a continued rise in death counts and wide-spread devastation. Reviewing the currently established treatment options as well as new potential therapeutics allows a comprehensive analysis of what is offered and how enhancement of these programs can effectively lower harm to PWUD.

Evidence-Based Treatments

Addiction treatment and supports have advanced over the last decade due to a deeper scientific understanding of substance use disorder and acceptance as a medical condition. The services developed are much more comprehensive and applicable to broader audiences to better tailor care to the diverse population substance use affects. Unfortunately, some of the evidence-based treatments currently developed are not widely available and treatment gaps are still highly prevalent, but the wide variety of options being developed and changing attitude towards substance use is promising. A review of established treatment methods, their history, and efficacy will help us to gain a better understanding of strengths and gaps in Canada's response to substance use.

Withdrawal Management

Beginning as a highly recommended treatment method for alcohol dependence, withdrawal management, or detoxification centres, have been a heavily relied upon treatment method for more than 50 years (29). Substance use disorder is characterised by drug dependency where the body becomes physically dependent on the substance and will go through drug withdrawal if substance use is abruptly stopped or diminished. This physiological response is due to biochemical changes in the brain induced by drug use, and involves a variety of severe symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, anxiety, insomnia, etc. (30) These simultaneous physical, mental, and emotional symptoms are incredibly taxing and difficult to fight through, especially for many vulnerable populations who do not have access to the proper resources or environment to support themselves. Withdrawal management involves medical and psychological care for those experiencing drug detoxification, and although once seen as a promising treatment, it is now known that independently, it is not an effective long-term recovery method. Oral naltrexone is a medication for opioid use disorder which induces immediate withdrawal symptoms as it acts as an opioid antagonist and blocks the euphoric effects of any consumed opioids (31). It has historically been used in withdrawal management programs, but meta-analysis has shown this medication has no benefit on retention or abstinence especially considering the extreme side effects (32). Natural withdrawal is now more commonly advised, but not without its own precautions.

Withdrawal management alone has high rates of relapse and limited data demonstrating sustained abstinence following completion of the process (33). In recent years it has been shown to be an unsafe practice without supplemental interventions due to high rates of relapse which in turn leads to increased risk of overdose, as well as HIV and Hepatitis C infection (31). It is therefore recommended that withdrawal management be used in conjunction with other ongoing treatment such as opioid antagonist treatments, residential or outpatient treatment, and psychological therapy. Detoxification is necessary prior to some residential and out-patient treatment programs, making withdrawal management services beneficial as a first step towards further recovery involving wrap-around psychosocial support. *Harm Reduction*

Harm reduction is a client-centred approach to addictions treatment which does not require abstinence and instead focuses on diminishing adverse health consequences associated with drug use (34). Harm reduction methods have recently gained immense support by health advocates as it is a more pragmatic approach which effectively minimizes death caused by substance use and acknowledges the complex needs of people who use drugs. By providing care with dignity and compassion, many barriers seen when addressing addictions issues are eliminated leading to more meaningful and productive health promotion. There is a variety of services, programs, and practices which fall under the harm reduction category, all with unique focuses which provides comprehensive treatment options to improve the health of those who use drugs while prioritizing the individuals' needs and goals.

Needle exchange programs and sterile drug paraphernalia distribution are critical services which prioritize harms associated with using septic drug equipment. These programs significantly reduce the spread of blood-borne infections like HIV and Hepatitis C, as well as other drug use-associated infections like abscesses or infective endocarditis (31). Across Canada, the majority of new hepatitis C infections are people who inject drugs, making this an important public health issue (35). Working together with drug education initiatives, providing these supplies emphasize the importance of using sterile equipment every time an injection or inhalation of substances is performed. Usually provided as kits, some of the items available include alcohol swabs, sterile water, tourniquets, personal sharps containers, spoons and filters, and clean syringes, with the option to personalize kits based on needs. Public sharps disposal bins are also implemented by these programs which benefit entire communities by reducing publicly discarded needles and other used drug paraphernalia. These services therefore directly reduce potential harm to people who use substances and have increased referrals to further health and social services to address their substance use, benefiting both their individual health as well as their communities'.

Along with harm reduction kits, there are also naloxone overdose prevention kits available. Naloxone, or Narcan, is an opioid antagonist and therefore rapidly reverses the effect of opioids by binding to and blocking opioid receptors. It is most commonly administered nasally, intravenously, or intramuscularly, only having an effect if there are opioids present in the recipients' system (36). When opioid overdose occurs, depression of the central nervous system and respiratory system will cause death unless there is prompt medical intervention. Naloxone will counteract this fatal effect, and although temporary, can alleviate symptoms to provide time for emergency medical attention (37). An environmental scan of naloxone access in Canada identified more than 61 000 naloxone kits were use between 2021 and 2018 to reverse an opioid overdose (38). Naloxone kits are distributed at some shelters, community health clinics, pharmacies, hospitals, and social outreach organizations, although not all general health facilities provide them.

A growing harm reduction strategy is the implementation of supervised consumption services. These are medical facilities which are legally sanctioned to allow drug consumption of pre-obtained illicit substances under supervision to ensure safe use and monitor for potential overdose events (34). In attempt to reduce open public use and encourage use with others to prevent accidental overdoses, supervised consumption sites are becoming more widely accepted as an effective method to protect people who use drugs. This also alleviates some strain on emergency medical services as trained staff act as first responders and intervene immediately, reducing injury of the individual. Safe use education is also a primary goal at these sites, teaching individuals how to safely prepare, inject, and/or inhale substances as well as emergency response in the case of an overdose. Supervised consumption facilities are not yet readily available in many regions of Canada, although more funding as recently been allocated for harm reduction programs which expands opportunity for implementation in additional regions (39). It was estimated in early 2020 that each site receives around 3000 visits per day, that over 15 000 overdoses and drug-related medical emergencies were managed with no onsite overdose deaths, and over 35 000 Canadians used these services between 2017 and 2019 (40). Consistent contact with participants in these facilities fosters rapport with health care providers and has been seen to increase connection with other community health and social services. Between 2017 and 2019 alone, 70 000 referrals were made to further medical care, mental health, and/or housing support services (40). Supervised consumption services also provide access to other harm reduction amenities such as supplies or even drug checking services.

With growing illicit drug use and increased toxic supply, interest in drug testing services has greatly heightened. This drug pool is not monitored for safety, and therefore has a lot of associated harms due to contamination, adulteration, and dosing or purity errors (34). Drug checking uses technology to determine the composition of a substance and whether there are potent drugs present such as fentanyl. By knowing the compounds present in their substance, the individual can make more informed decisions about the amount they will consume or if it is safe for them to use at all. There are many different methods used to check drugs, including spectrometry, chromatography, and antibody-based test strips, but it is still a relatively new available technology which is continuing to be refined for simpler public use (41).

Harm reduction services promote health by prioritizing the needs and realities of its patient, leading to a more compassionate and non-judgemental approach. This mentality has shown to save lives and significantly reduce drug-related health harms which has beneficial impacts on individual wellbeing, associated public health costs of substance use, and overall community health.

Opioid Agonist Treatments

Opioid agonist treatment is a medication-based treatment that has been shown to be more effective than many non-pharmacological treatments and has a variety of forms making it suitable for a diverse range of patients. Best results are seen when used in conjunction with counselling, mental health support, and other social support programs. In brief, an opioid agonist is a drug which will activate the opioid receptors without eliciting a euphoric effect, preventing immediate withdrawal symptoms and cravings (42). These agonists act slower in the body than most opioids allowing more productive time between doses and therefore lessening dependence. The goal of these programs is to implement a daily scheduled dose to relieve opioid dependence and gain more daily stability in order to more effectively manage withdrawal symptoms and better focus on recovery (43). Better treatment retention, reduced morbidity and mortality, and reduced risk of HIV and hepatitis C infection has been seen in OAT (31).

It is currently recommended to begin OAT with buprenorphine-naloxone, also called Suboxone, when able as it has the best safety profile and allows for dosing flexibility with the option for take-home doses, whereas other opioid agonist medication initially requires daily pharmacy visits (44). As a long-acting partial opioid receptor agonist, buprenorphine has a long half-life but also has lower opioid receptor activation than full opioid agonists. The high affinity of the drug still displaces other opioids present in the system, so sufficiently acts on opioid receptors to prevent withdrawal symptoms without euphoria or respiratory depression. The buprenorphine is combined with naloxone, an opioid antagonist, to ensure proper medical use of the medication as it will have no antagonist effect if taken sublingually as directed but can induce symptoms of withdrawal if injected. Buprenorphine-naloxone has been found to be more effective than withdrawal management or psychological treatment alone, and equal efficacy when compared to methadone prescription (31).

Methadone is a long-acting synthetic opioid but, unlike buprenorphine, is a full opioid agonist. It has similar benefits as it prevents withdrawal symptoms, cravings, and euphoria induced by other opioids present, but has increased risk when compared to buprenorphinenaloxone. It has a narrower therapeutic index, making dosage incredibly important, and therefore is less accessible to take home in carries until long-term stability is demonstrated. It takes at least three months of daily attendance, weekly urine samples, and weekly doctor's appointments to be considered for flexible dosing, which is often disruptive to ones' life and creates barriers for those living in more remote areas (42). Until 2018, methadone prescriptions were difficult to obtain as physicians had to apply for exemption from Health Canada to utilize the medication. To better support those with opioid dependence, the government of Canada lifted this regulation in May of 2018, increasing access to Canadians in need (45). The safety profile of methadone is lower than Suboxone as there is a higher potential to interact with other substances such as alcohol and benzodiazepines, increasing risk for polydrug users, but use as directed has been shown to be a safe and effective treatment for opioid dependence, reducing many of the associated harms (31). Some medical professionals try to gradually reduce methadone dose to then transition to Suboxone for long-term use. This system does not work for everyone, and stability is the main goal, giving individuals a chance to focus on other aspects of their life and improve their overall wellbeing.

For some, neither Suboxone nor methadone are adequate for stabilization and alleviated addiction symptoms. Slow-release oral morphine is another OAT option which may be a better suited option for some who do not react well to other medications. It is a pure opioid agonist and has a half-life which allows for administration once daily (44). There are higher risks associated when compared to other OAT medications such as potential for fatal overdose if the dose is too high and the ability to overcome the slow-release design by crushing the oral tablets and either chewing or injecting the morphine. Missed doses also have more consequential effects as significant loss of tolerance can occur, leading to higher risk of overdose when restarting. Due to these risks, witnessed doses are common practice with minimal take-home doses prescribed unless strict follow up is possible with frequent urine testing, random medication counts, and reassessment as needed (31).

All of the current opioid agonist treatment options have been found to have a high treatment retention when compared to non-pharmacotherapeutic approaches, and the multiple prescription options leads to greater accommodation to patients' diverse needs. *Safe Supply*

Safe supply is becoming more and more accepted in Canada as the opioid crisis worsens and involves legal prescription of pharmaceutical-grade mind- or body-altering substances. The most common medication prescribed the treat opioid dependency is hydromorphone, heroin, or injectable diacetylmorphine, but safe supply can also be applied to stimulant dependency through prescription of methylphenidate and extended-release amphetamines (46). These medications usually have similar effects which will prevent withdrawal and cravings but ensures safer use with the expanding toxic drug supply. Safe supply takes a more independent approach when compared to typical OAT, still with strict dosage, but with the ability to consume the medication unsupervised after obtaining it from a pharmacy (11). Throughout Covid-19, this treatment option has become greatly advocated for as the pandemic has had direct implications on the contaminated drug pool, skyrocketing opioid- and stimulant-related harms and causing the death of thousands (9). These programs have been critical for many during the pandemic as safety was more certain in times of social distancing and isolation, directly reducing the risk of overdose by not needing to rely on the illicit drug market. This past year, the Canadian Government provided funding for community health organizations to pilot these programs and gauge their effectiveness, even supporting some fentanyl-assisted treatment programs in Vancouver (12). The organizations chosen for funding were key to creating lowerbarrier access to safe supply, prioritizing health clinics which engaged with vulnerable populations that use drugs (47). Prescribed opioids are also a topic of controversy for some, as it is seen as enabling drug users, but when considering the prevention of overdose mortality, reduced need to partake in criminal activity to obtain drugs, reduction in homelessness, and the enriched quality of life which allows individuals to engage in healthcare and other social support services, the benefits outweigh this idea (48). This treatment prioritizes saving lives over social expectation and stigma, protecting, and providing adequate, autonomous care to all people.

Inpatient Services

Inpatient services can refer to either 24/7 hospital programs or residential treatment, where structured activities are employed to address substance use, medical, and mental health issues. Usually involving group counselling, individual psychotherapy, case management support, and medical attention to monitor withdrawal and long-term effects of drug use, these programs vary in length from 21 days to multiple months (49). Both programs have similar structures, with residential treatment being a bit more restrictive and better suited for physically and emotionally stabilized individuals who are accustomed to routine and accountability. Although these types of treatment allow individuals to focus and reflect on their recovery, it is also not feasible for some as it is not flexible for those who want to work simultaneously and is disruptive to one's life. There are both public and privately funded residential treatment programs, with unpredictable wait times for public centres. Once treatment is sought out, there are often wait times of multiple weeks for initial assessment, and then several months before actual admittance into treatment programs. There is wide variability depending on the facility, but it is generally reported that individuals must wait at least two months to access residential treatment which can be discouraging for those struggling, especially vulnerable populations that are in unideal environments for improvement (50). Individuals are usually required to check in multiple times a month to stay on the waiting list and need to access withdrawal services prior to acceptance, adding more complexity to the process and creating barriers for many who do not have access to resources or supports needed for follow up. Private inpatient facilities have much lower wait times but are often not a choice for individuals as treatment is incredibly expensive and must be paid by the participant.

Only some inpatient institutions allow continued OAT while in the program as they are typically seen as abstinence-oriented, but in recent years, this has become more accepted as integrated treatment approaches appear to be more effective (31). Continued OAT following inpatient services has also shown to increase stabilization and decrease relapse, highlighting the efficacy of comprehensive treatment approaches.

Outpatient Services

Outpatient services include a wide range of programs which are part-time and not livein. These programs provide more flexibility than inpatient services, so are often recommended for those with stable housing, employment, and more manageable substance use as there is an emphasis on self-management (49). It can be long-term to maintain stability following more intensive treatment or used as first line treatment depending on the patient. They often take place at specialized addiction or general healthcare centres and can involve counselling, education programs, support groups, or family therapy. Depending on the program, daily, weekly, or monthly activities are offered. Some virtual and mobile services have also been developed due to Covid-19, extending outreach to communities with less accessibility (41). There are both day programs where the individual returns home at night or evening programming that people can attend after their daily commitments.

Psychosocial therapy is a common treatment technique that provides non-judgemental support and advice that assists in analyzing barriers, assessing motivation, and developing strategies to promote wellbeing. Both individual and group therapy can benefit recovery as substance use disorder is a complex mental health disorder that often has many contributing factors needed to be addressed for recovery (31). There is a high prevalence of PWUD who have experienced significant trauma leading to their substance use, as well as co-morbidity with other mental health disorders which can be improved upon with psychotherapy. Many struggling individuals emphasize the lack of social support and positive relationships to motivate them throughout recovery, highlighting the need for this type of treatment. It is not recommended however to rely solely on psychosocial support with the onset of abrupt abstinence as this has shown to have high rates of relapse and can lead to higher harm in the long-run (44). A specialized type of counselling gaining popularity is peer support. Just like psychological therapy, peer-based support can be one-on-one or in group formats and is most effective when used as an additional support to other treatment methods. The most wellknown example is Narcotics or Alcoholics Anonymous which are thoroughly designed programs based on peer support groups and forming connections with others who have similar experiences (31). Both psychotherapy and peer support groups are also integrated in inpatient services, but access to these services in outpatient programs allow individuals waiting for, or not suitable for inpatient treatment to still benefit.

For those not pursuing abstinence, outpatient services can be an option to improve their mental health and manage dependence without barriers. They also give ample opportunity for referrals and exposure to treatment options maybe not previously known to the individual. In combination with other treatment programs, outpatient services can be very beneficial for those overcoming or maintaining their substance use disorder, but certain circumstances make this treatment option more effective for some than others.

Evidence in Ontario

The opioid epidemic seemingly prevailed in Western Canada over the last decade, but recent data suggests that stimulant- and opioid-related deaths, hospitalizations, and EMS responses have dramatically increased in Ontario from 2016-2021 (9). Opioid-related deaths especially saw a steep rise in the weeks following March 17th, 2020, when the state of emergency was declared in Ontario for Covid-19. When considering the populations most vulnerable to substance use disorder across Canada, the severity of addictions in Ontario is emphasized. There is a high prevalence of mental illness within Ontario, with the latest estimation occurring in 2012, concluding that at least 2.2 million Ontarians experience poor mental health and illness (51). There has been a lack of recent Ontario-wide studies quantifying mental health and addictions since 2012, making it difficult to convey the true prevalence provincially, but self-reporting polls have emerged that indicate there has been a major increase over the last decade. A recent poll conducted by the Canadian Association of Mental Health focused on the implications of Covid-19 on mental health in Ontario finding that almost three quarters of Ontarians think the province is facing a serious post-pandemic mental health crisis due to the negative effect isolation, heightened stress, and grief will have on the population, as well as the reduced access to services leaving a third of Ontarians finding it difficult to obtain adequate support (52). 45% of Ontarians had felt their mental health had deteriorated since March 2020, and more than a quarter feeling more tension in their household. The poll also highlighted both concerns with substance use and youth mental health in Ontario. Of the participants in this study, 42% had increased their substance use or gambling since the beginning of the pandemic and 59% of parents noticing a difference in behaviour in

their children including increased feelings of sadness and hopelessness, with 49% of children and youth indexed classified as high or moderate risk for mental health issues (52). The increased need for mental health support since the pandemic has provoked a provincial campaign called *Everything is Not Okay*, a movement supported by Ontario's top mental health and addictions leaders such as the Canadian Mental Health Association, Addictions and Mental Health Ontario, CAMH, CMHO, and multiple major mental health care and research facilities. Their campaign focuses on the growing need to make equal access to mental health and addiction care, dominantly by encouraging the government to prioritize reducing wait times for these services (53). The average wait time in Ontario for public residential addiction treatment is 100 days, producing gaps in our treatment system and not adequately supporting those reaching out for help (54). In regard to youth at risk, the longest wait time for mental health services can be 2.5 years with more than 28 000 children on the wait list for these services (55). Not only addressing wait times, this movement urges improvement in consistency of services and access for all no matter where someone resides, race, sexuality, age, income, or type of addiction.

Of the many struggling with mental health, there is a high prevalence of homelessness, socioeconomic inequalities, Indigenous peoples, and geographic factors which all contribute to health disparities and rates of substance use. The soaring real estate market will continue to drive more into homelessness, as the ability to secure affordable housing diminishes for those with lower income. In 2018, 13.9% of households in Ontario were in core housing need, meaning they require housing-related financial assistance to live in acceptable conditions, and with the rapidly rising housing market, this value is expected to increase (56). The

unaffordability of housing also prevents individuals who are homeless from obtaining permanent housing, which is of great need as the Financial Accountability Office of Ontario estimated in 2018 that more than 16 000 Ontarians are homeless with 40-60% experiencing chronic homelessness of 6 months or more (56). This statistic does not account for the 'hidden' homeless population making it difficult to gauge accuracy as some individuals live in encampments or stay with friends/relatives while experiencing homelessness, not being easily identifiable as without housing in comparison to those accessing emergency shelters. Lack of stable housing has a direct impact on health and seems to have a bi-directional relationship as it is often observed that health can influence the onset of homelessness. In the 2016 Ontario Point-in-Time (PiT) count data, the majority of those aged 24 to 49 years old indicated substance use as the main reason for lack of housing (57). Programs which take the housingfirst approach to substance use and mental health care often stress the importance of supportive housing to combat chronic homelessness, but these programs are limited in Ontario with wait times being an average of 2.9 years, and the longest wait time being 8 years (58).

Those living in poverty and considered of low socioeconomic status face the greatest turmoil induced by the housing crisis and are also more likely to be affected by mental health and substance use issues. When reviewing income inequity in Ontario, the top one-fifth income group was found to have 9.6 times the income of the bottom one-fifth in 2011, making Ontario the province with the second-highest income inequality across Canada (59). The same report found that nearly double the total emergency department visits for mental health and addiction concerns were from those living in the lowest-income neighbourhoods in Ontario when compared to the richest neighbourhoods. Stigma and social exclusion of these marginalized groups produces barriers to accessing services which can intervene before emergency visits are necessary, and overall, have a major impact on mental health and substance use. These already outcasted populations have less access to specialized services due to the complex factors present in the low socioeconomic population such as poverty, racism, isolation, violence, and inaccessibility to economic resources. Not only this, but these social determinants of health have serious implications on youth and their development. With the increasing prevalence and awareness of youth mental health in Ontario, it is important to consider these high-income disparities and how these conditions have long-term impacts on development of our youth. In a 2016 census of Ontario, it was concluded that 18.4% of children live in low-income households which will affect food security and nutrition, experiences of stress or trauma, and educational opportunities (60).

This statistic excludes data from Indigenous peoples who live on reserves in Ontario, another high-risk population in Ontario for substance use. The census data table enumerating Indigenous children was missing 8 First Nations communities, but even so, found that 29.5% of children represented lived in poverty. Being a severe underestimate, this data is incredibly concerning for the Indigenous communities in Ontario especially due to the high rates of mental illness and addictions amongst the Indigenous populations across Canada.

24% of all Indigenous peoples in Canada live in Ontario, representing the largest First Nations population nationally. Ontario has First Nations, Inuit, Métis, and other Indigenous selfidentifying people, with 23% living on reserve and 78% of the communities being located in Northern Ontario (61). Of those living on reserve, a quarter of the reserves are remote communities only accessible by air or ice roads during the winter. Although improving, the overall socioeconomic indicators of these populations show significant inequalities are present when comparing Indigenous to non-Indigenous populations. 21% of Indigenous peoples are considered low-income, with only 13% in non-Indigenous populations, and the rate of high school completion is 76% considering all self-identified Indigenous peoples and only 45% for First Nations living on reserves. 93% of the non-Indigenous population has a completed high school diploma, and in terms of health, have a life expectancy 10 years higher than Indigenous individuals (61). Although the health and social inequalities facing Indigenous communities are well-known, accessible and culturally relevant data is limited especially for non-reserve and urban Indigenous communities. Across Canada there have been multiple health surveys conducted to gain a better understanding of mental health in these communities, but lack of involvement of Indigenous peoples and incorporation of the diverse populations makes these studies less informative than intended. There is a disproportionate burden of harms associated with substance use in Ontario, especially in isolated communities, which Ontario Public Health has started to address.

The Crisis Team Program focuses on remote northern First Nations communities and takes a community-based approach to suicide, family violence, and mental health interventions (62). Integration of referrals to counselling and treatment programs in these northern communities hopes to lessen the treatment gap and make these services more accessible. These programs have good intention, but fails to address that standard treatment programs in Ontario foster disconnection from cultural values and traditions for many Indigenous peoples, leading to further pain and distance from their true heritage (63). Residential programs often dislocate individuals and cause more isolation and disruption, inhibiting healing and coping due to limited

cultural support. Specialized Indigenous mental health and addiction healing centres are a recent initiative by the Ontario government for this reason, as culturally safe treatment programs can be developed combining Indigenous healing and clinical approaches. Involvement of the communities is critical for effective treatment development, and both residential and non-residential day programs are being created to address this need. In October 2021, the Ontario government announced that they are designating \$36 million to mental health and addictions support for Indigenous communities with \$20 million directed towards supporting survivors of residential schools and \$16 million to children and youth support, victim healing services, and an Indigenous-led response to opioid use (62).

This funding was announced in parallel with Ontario's *Roadmap to Wellness* report (2020), which outlined the government's new plan for the mental health and addictions system. An investment of \$3.8 billion over 10 years is being implemented to build a more comprehensive mental health and addictions system which hopes to improve services for all Ontario's diverse populations. A focus of this initiative is co-development of services with Indigenous communities to better current supports in a culturally driven, holistic way by using a collaborative process and involving those directly affected. There is also emphasis on expanding services for Francophones, taking a similar integrated approach, and making French-language programs more readily accessible. In general, the report discusses the main systemic issues facing Ontarians in need of mental health and substance use services, being long wait times, barriers to knowledge of services as well as access, lack of coordination between programs, unequal service quality between regions, lack of evidence-based funding, and lastly, a lack of reliable data to properly evaluate both overall demand and efficacy of current interventions

(62). With a heavier emphasis on community-based services, the government has developed four pillars to address the complex needs of the province which are improving quality, expanding existing effective services, implementation of new innovative solutions, and improving access through continuous engagement with sector partners, medical professionals, clinical researchers, caregivers, as well as those who have lived experience.

There are a wide variety of services offered in Ontario to address substance use, although access to these treatment options may not always be guaranteed especially if you are a part of the above vulnerable populations. There are residential in-patient treatment centres, but as discussed earlier, have long wait times and often require individuals to move far distances sometimes causing further distress. Especially during the pandemic, there has been an emphasis on pharmaceutical interventions like OAT and safe supply programs as they are less effected by public health mandates and have more room for adaptation with the everchanging status of Covid-19 restrictions. There has been a rapid expansion of these programs as the government has reduced barriers in the prescription process, allowing physicians and nurse practitioners to prescribe OAT drugs without having to claim exemption as well as relaxing takehome policies making it discretion of the prescriber. The Ontario Telemedicine Network has also ramped up OAT programs as demand increased during the pandemic (64). Safe supply programs have gained particular attention this past year in Ontario, with both federal and provincial governments providing funding to local health organizations to provide safer supply options to more communities as the toxic drug supply prevails (65). Expansion of OAT and safe supply programs needs to continue, with a greater focus on integrating multiple forms of support in conjunction with pharmacological methods such as involving case management
workers, psychiatrists, social workers, social programming like group therapy, and other outpatient supports to promote continuity of care (64). The availability of these specialized services in Ontario require expansion as well, with multiple studies outlining the significant psychiatrist shortage occurring across Ontario having negative effects on the progression of many individuals with complex mental health needs. For example, it is estimated that Ontario will see a shortage of 350 psychiatrists by 2030, increasing the shortage by 15% since 2010, with current average wait times averaging 20.3 weeks (66). Limited access to these specialized services in a timely manner often causes the wellbeing of patients to worsen, especially when comorbid mental health conditions are present.

In attempt to alleviate some of the strain on mental health services, Ontario's newest health report outlined the priority of community health initiatives to address mental health and addictions needs. Community health centres are becoming more heavily relied upon in Ontario to reach more vulnerable populations and reduce the many identified barriers to obtaining health support. The wide breadth of these clinics makes services more coordinated and easily accessible, employing a variety of interprofessional health care professionals such as physicians, nurse practitioners, social workers, dieticians, social workers, and counsellors (67). With a mandate to address upstream health determinants, community health centres also have the ability to adapt programming depending on community factors, better supporting the people who access the services and able to customize care considering the unique geographic, social, and environmental contributors to health. The Ontario government has recently acknowledged the efficacy of these programs and are now prioritizing the development of centres to better mental health efforts provincially. Many of these clinics are associated with harm reduction efforts as well. Although firstly only funded to reduce rates of HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C, harm reduction initiatives have evolved to support a wide range of individuals who use substances, and increased advocacy for these programs in Ontario has gained greater public support. Consumption Treatment Services, or previously known as Supervised Consumption Sites, are one harm reduction effort which has been quite controversial since the first site opened in Canada in 2004 (68). Currently, there are 38 Consumption Treatment Service sites across Canada, with 21 of them in Ontario (69). There are five sites awaiting approval at the time of this report, with little insight on a potential opening date as the application process often takes several years before Health Canada approves them. There are emergency 1-year exemptions which can be given before Health Canada fully reviews these applications, but this is not ideal especially when trying to obtain funding. Another similar service is an overdose prevention site, which is much less complicated to develop as it only requires provincial Ministry of Health involvement and is not a permanent service. These sites are a temporary, emergency service which sometimes transitions to a Consumption Treatment Service centre, but in the beginning, does not require extensive support services and therefore only serves as a safe space to use drugs with supervision. The need for these sites has drastically increased during Covid-19 and were identified as priorities in the latest rapid review by Public Health Ontario on substance use-related harms. Other services identified include drug checking services, needle and syringe distribution programs, opioid overdose prevention education, naloxone distribution, and outreach programs like mobile services and virtual options (70). This rapid review focused on the negative impact the pandemic had on access of these services, which highlights a paradoxical of sorts occurring in Ontario. Covid-19 has restricted many services addressing

substance use, and further strained programs as they experienced a rapidly increasing demand, but simultaneously, the pandemic has finally brought those struggling with substance use to the forefront and serious progression has occurred both in policy and funding. The Ontario government is actively collaborating with those directly affected by addictions and trying to implement evidence-based services at a faster rate than previously, but the real question is if the response is too long overdue, and whether their current efforts are enough to overcome these challenges and effectively support the growing demand.

Report: Addictions in Rural Canada

Addictions in Rural Canada

Recently, substantially more research has been done to identify those who are most affected by substance use, but there is still minimal data that distinguishes geographical or cultural differences amongst these groups. Rural regions are specifically lacking in data reporting substance use rates, associated harms, resources available, and overall demographic of these communities which can be useful in identifying at-risk populations. Surveillance and effective analysis of substance use in rural communities is often lacking due to most addictions services and researchers being located in urban centres. Any research completed usually exclusively compares urban to rural instead of evaluating rural regions as their own entity, missing the many unique and dynamic factors contributing to health and wellness in these communities. The definition of 'rural' in Canadian health academia also varies, making it difficult to make distinct conclusions and produce effective policy or health initiatives. For example, Statistics Canada defines rurality by population and population density, whereas other ministries in the Ontario government consider rural to be all areas outside of the main nine urban centres (71). The lack of understanding of the diversity of rural communities and difficulty in defining the many aspects of rurality has direct implications in research and causes minimal data collection in these regions.

More recently, there has been an influx of research on Northern Ontario, which contains many small and remote communities, and has raised awareness of the many barriers rural regions are burdened with as well as promoted enrichment of rural-focused health services. Northern Ontario is intuitively a rural region both spatially and socially, with distinct demographics and physical separation from the more recognized urban centres in Southern Ontario, which makes it a more manageable rural region to define and research. Although focus on Northern Ontario is obviously valuable and gives insight into many aspects of rural health, this research alone cannot fulfill the rural health data deficit across Canada as all these communities have unique political, environmental, economic, and social factors which contribute to their distinct health needs. Further expansion of research programs and collaborative initiatives with smaller communities are therefore needed to better understand the state of health care and more specifically, substance use, in rural areas nationwide.

Historically, rural regions have had limited access to the majority of health services, especially specialized services. Rural communities across Canada have long advocated for expansion of the current health care system and equal distribution of resources, prioritizing the health of all Canadians. Many rural areas have significant doctor and nurse shortages, leading to overburdened health care professionals unable to address all the needs of their underserved communities (72). Health care facilities that directly serve these communities usually have limited supplies and do not have as specialized equipment or treatment options, making it necessary to refer or transfer patients to facilities far away from their community which have access to the technologies and equipment needed. When focusing on substance use, these disparities in health care are echoed, with access to supports, drug education, harm reduction initiatives, and treatment options limited. This issue is incredibly prevalent within rural Canada, with higher rates of tobacco, alcohol, and methamphetamine use as well as rapidly climbing opioid use (73). Many rural health leaders, especially Indigenous leaders, have emphasized the need for more comprehensive substance use supports and culturally relevant services to address the rapidly worsening state of addictions in small, rural communities. Based on the data available, various Canadian health organizations have evaluated the growing prevalence of substance use in rural regions. For example, within the last few years it was found in various studies that 22.4% of Canadians living in rural areas reported heavy drinking compared to 18.4% in urban areas (74), and opioid-related hospitalization rates in smaller communities were found to be 2.5X the rates in larger urban cities (75). Youth in rural regions were also more likely to drink alcohol as well as smoke tobacco cigarettes (73).

These statistics are only a small glimpse into the many measurable aspects of addiction in rural communities but demonstrate the equal need for intervention and adequate services when compared to urban rates, as well as the growing need to better understand the reasoning behind these trends. Most of the identified factors contributing to substance use trends in rural areas are attributed to socioeconomic factors such as low income, community safety, social supports, unemployment, high-risk occupations, and lower education. When considering the most high-risk jobs in Canada, most are highly laborious and exclusive to rural regions such as fishing and trapping, mining, quarrying, logging and forestry, transportation, and construction (76). These industries involve many occupational hazards and are therefore more stressful psychologically as well as lead to more workplace injuries. When combined with limited access to health services, lower income, social pressure, and less ability to change career paths, the high-risk jobs prevalent in rural communities can foster lower overall health and higher risk of substance use and addiction (77). Socially, people living in small communities are often more susceptible to feelings of shame associated with accessing health care, especially when related to workplace injury and substance use, as tighter-knit towns can lead to gossip and private

business quickly becoming public knowledge. Some habitants of rural regions have identified this as a personal barrier to getting the help they need, emphasizing the need for social programs raising awareness and educating communities on the health services available while concurrently reducing stigmatization (77). Smaller communities also usually have a smaller job field, leaving many with limited options when faced with workplace injuries. Not only this, but many with lower income cannot afford to take time off work to properly treat workplace injuries, encouraging use of pain medication to cope. Even if professional health advice is sought out in these scenarios, pain management has historically been low-quality in Western medicine and has contributed to the opioid epidemic as liberal opioid prescription without sufficient surveillance and guidance can cause unintentional opioid abuse (78). Inadequate pain management training is a hot topic in the health care industry, as prescription opioids have dramatically increased over the last 20 years and abuse of these medications has had devastating effects for many. Inability to access health care can also lead to use of nonprescription opioids or other substances such as alcohol, and this trend has been seen time and time again especially when working in a high-risk occupation. The unique socioeconomic factors affecting the health of rural residents are therefore complex and interact differently depending on the circumstances of each community, something which has not been effectively addressed in health care measures in the past.

As discussed in the previous report, urban communities across Canada have struggled with coordination of addictions and mental health services, and rural communities have even more barriers to communication and integration of these resources which has a severe impact on rural populations. The sheer distance between some of these services makes it much more difficult to collaborate and develop more comprehensive care. It has been shown that substance use intervention is most effective when combining multiple evidence-based treatment methods, which often requires an interdisciplinary approach involving multiple services and health professionals (31). For example, a current popular treatment plan involves using pharmacological methods as a first-line treatment such as methadone or suboxone, and complimenting medication with psychotherapy, residential treatment, or other social supports. Without integration of these services, comprehensive treatment is much more difficult and increases risk of relapse. Not only this, but treatment is often not linear, with trial and error needed to find a treatment which works for each individual patient making it critical to have a variety of treatment options available, another aspect of substance use which is unmet in many rural communities.

The interdisciplinary approach to substance use and addictions has greatly expanded in recent years due to increased acceptance of substance use disorder as a medical condition and the increased efficacy of these types of programs, but this expansion is mostly in urban areas with a higher density of health resources. Although proven very effective so far in these urban regions, many of the services broadly available in Canada are still designed with an urban context in mind, making some evidence-based treatments impractical or ineffective for those living in rural regions. Connecting these issues, not only is access and integration of addiction services lacking in rural areas, but evidence-based interventions established in urban centres have not been thoroughly adjusted to better suit rural regions making it almost impossible to properly support these populations with the current structure of care. The most impactful example of this involves pharmacological treatments. Proper consultation and prescription of

medication-based treatments like methadone were almost completely inaccessible until recently, with strict policy requiring doctors to request special access on each individual case and jump through many hoops before being able to regularly prescribe the medications. Although much simpler now, mostly thanks to the Covid-19 pandemic, it is still routine to have weekly meetings with the patient to discuss dosage and progress with the treatment, as well as urine sampling (43). When beginning treatment, it is also common practice to receive single daily doses, requiring patients to go to a pharmacy or clinic every day to obtain their medication. Carries or weekly doses are only granted after long-term retention is demonstrated and is still avoided by many doctors and pharmacists. This creates a problem for those living in remote locations, where the cost and time of travel can be unattainable for those who need treatment. A similar issue is seen with outpatient services as they are not evenly distributed for all to access, and a similar immense commitment is needed to utilize in-person programming which is not feasible for many. These problems are amplified in harm reduction initiatives as distance makes it more difficult to readily obtain supplies and being further away from emergency health services put them at greater risk if overdose occurs. The lack of supervised consumption sites or similar services makes safe use almost impossible, which leads to higher opioid-related emergency department visits and deaths. The displacement of rural residents when accessing outpatient services, pharmacological treatment, harm reduction services, or inpatient services like residential programs can therefore be incredibly disruptive and put more strain on a patient as they are isolated from their loved ones and community where they are comfortable, need to consider travel and associated expenses, and may experience more intense culture shock when accessing these services, making an already difficult condition much

harder. Collaboration with rural health leaders and community members should be conducted to better expand services into rural areas and gain a better understanding of how urbancentred programs can be adapted to serve these populations.

Rural communities in general face barriers to health care both politically and geographically, but there is also a large proportion of marginalized groups living in these regions. It was found in a recent study that rural and northern communities, impoverished and homeless populations, incarcerated individuals, and Black, Indigenous, and People of Colour have seen the greatest increase in opioid-related harms (65). Feelings of displacement and subsequent isolation is felt to an even greater degree amongst these demographics, as urban-focused treatments are not often developed incorporating cultural relevance. Indigenous and francophone populations are quite prevalent in rural regions Canada-wide, making it necessary to consider culture and language when introducing treatment services into these communities. A large proportion of Indigenous communities are in rural or small population centres, with many being remote, highlighting the need to prioritize these populations when considering rural health in Ontario. The cultural barriers combined with unique obstacles faced by rural regions makes Indigenous health particularly vulnerable, and the consequences of neglecting these gaps have been demonstrated with the Chiefs of Ontario identifying opioid use disorder as an urgent health issue since 2009 (79). Many Indigenous leaders have outlined effective next steps for addressing substance use with a priority being expansion of specialized Indigenous programming which emphasizes culture and community by integrating traditional healing practices, spirituality, and elder-lead sessions while improving access to evidence-based treatments (80).

Similar culturally relevant services are necessary to support the Francophone populations in Ontario. The largest proportion of Francophone Ontarians live in Eastern Ontario or Northeastern Ontario which have more rural and remote regions relative to Southern and Central Ontario. There is substantial data documenting the detrimental outcomes of language barriers on access to and quality of health services, much of which is recounted by Francophone Ontarians (81). There is limited comprehensive data on the distribution of French-speaking physicians and whether these professionals are located amongst the identified high-density Francophone regions, making it difficult to evaluate the services offered and satisfaction with the care they receive. There is even less research on substance use in Francophone populations, creating a need for more specified and collaborative research before being able to identify the gaps in mental health and substance use services in these communities.

Another relatively hidden population in rural communities are those experiencing homelessness or housing instability. Often seen as a big city issue, homelessness is hard to quantify in rural regions but is still a prevalent issue. Most emergency shelters and social services intended for these populations are in urban centres which make data collection easier and makes homelessness more readily visible to the public, but less typical forms of temporary shelter like couch surfing or sleeping in vehicles occur outside of these geographic regions and often go under the radar (82). Due to lack of social infrastructure, rural residents struggling with homelessness also will sometimes migrate to urban centres to receive supports, which can have longer term effects as separation from family and loss of familiarity can be more harmful than helpful. Indigenous peoples who experience homelessness across rural Canada are also disproportionate to their population size, demonstrating the overlapping factors that are involved in mental health and substance use issues. Another issue which rural communities face more than urban is the idea of relative homelessness, which involves people who are housed but in substandard shelter unfit for a high quality of life (83). Substandard conditions can include living with mould, poor heating or insulation, or other conditions which pose a risk to the health of the habitants. Low income and supportive housing options are also limited in rural regions due to lack of funding as most social infrastructure funding is distributed based on population, and due to the typical organization of these programs being less relevant to rural regions. This once again highlights how current initiatives to fight homelessness, complex mental health conditions, and substance use are often designed with an urban focus and are not readily applicable to rural settings. As described in the previous report, homelessness and lower income individuals are at a higher risk of substance use and addiction, making these populations in the context of rural communities incredibly important to consider. The revision of such programs is therefore necessary to address the barriers these populations face when struggling with substance use and make the services more effective for the unique communities they are serving.

There have been a few key developments in rural health access over the last few years which could benefit the mental health and addictions sectors exponentially if thoroughly developed with input from those living and working in these regions. The Local Health Hub Concept for rural and northern communities was presented by the Ontario Hospital Association in 2012 to improve on the current health care structure in these regions. In this model, there is emphasis on collaboration and integration of health delivery where predetermined core services are linked through a more efficient referral program, shared patient charts, and more community partners which would all contribute to more comprehensive care (84). More recently, a combination of this approach with the Patient Medical Home concept, a primary care delivery program that focuses on family physicians and making their services more accessible as well as coordinated with other primary care services (85). The Patient Medical Home model focuses more on improving quality of primary care with a global perspective, making it more longitudinal and attempting to coordinate services within the entire primary care sector, whereas the Rural Health Hub concept prioritizes integration of services at a local small community level and heavily relies upon funding and administrative reform (85). These models complement one another well, with the pillars of each proposal being quite similar or working towards the same goals. Over the last decade, Ontario has seen a great deal of health care reform as changes in geographic borders of health regions and changes in both the names and responsibilities of these teams has varied greatly. The overlap between LHINs and Public Health Units is currently being refined to create a clearer system which encourages integration and communication between government and non-government organizations involved in health care. Currently, Ontario Health Teams are being created to address issues in the 34 public health regions, which has had a positive impact on patient navigation and general patient satisfaction (85). These teams bring health care providers together onto one collaborative team addressing the unique needs of Ontarians, which has shown to be particularly effective in improving mental health and addictions services especially for those in marginalized populations and living in rural and isolated areas (86).

These models can be further enhanced with the rise of telemedicine. Telemedicine has seen a dramatic expansion since the Covid-19 pandemic hit. The demand for continued health care in a time of social distancing and limited in-person interaction provided the perfect platform for full deployment of telemedicine on a wider scale, as the services were available previously but not fully developed or readily available to all. The geographical barriers faced by rural regions are greatly alleviated by incorporation of telemedicine, allowing for more thorough follow up and frequent monitoring of progress, less economic pressure on both the health care system and the patient, and easier access to specialized services (87). Virtual supports for substance use have seen immense growth since the onset of the pandemic, causing change in health policy in Ontario and increasing accessibility to a wide range of populations. Changes to pharmaceutical evidence-based treatments like methadone has occurred with the advancement of virtual services as the government allowed for virtual check ins both initiating and throughout the prescription period, minimizing a barrier faced by many as thorough inperson weekly follow up was required pre-pandemic. The main obstacle in telemedicine is lack of equipment and reliable internet access, making health professionals urge governments to invest in improving internet access in remote and rural regions and educational programs for those who are not proficient at using the technologies needed (88). Substance use treatments utilizing telemedicine has seen greater retention rates and equal or more effective programs compared to in-person programs, mostly due to the increased accessibility and better suited outpatient programs for rural residents (89).

The development of new approaches to rural health and advancement of more integrated health services are critical for effective substance use supports and improvement of these services for rural communities. A high prevalence and wide variety of substance use is observed in rural regions, with opioid use rising at an alarming rate, but data is limited making it difficult to fully understand the causes or effects of addiction in these communities. There is a great need for more collaborative research to occur in these regions to build more effective health care systems, and progression of the Rural Health Hub, Patient Medical Home, and telemedicine programs are a step in the right direction to better support rural regions and their vulnerable populations. More comprehensive, community-based approaches to health care therefore need to be invested in to better serve the currently underserved populations across Canada, especially in the overlooked rural areas.

Evidence in Eastern Ontario

The state of substance use and addictions in rural Northern Ontario has recently been well described due to the growing awareness of health inequity amongst these populations which has been a major advancement in rural health and research. This research emphasizes the unique factors which each individual rural community faces as well as identifies relatively universal deficits in rural health which has sparked the refinement and expansion of many health services to improve accessibility and relevance to rural populations. To an extent, this data is applicable to rural regions outside of the North, but still leaves many gaps for these other rural communities in Ontario. To improve this gap in research, this study explored substance use and addictions in rural Eastern Ontario, analysing rates, available resources, and potential barriers to these services to gain a better understanding of the current state of addictions across the Public Health Units located in Eastern Ontario. The Public Health Units involved in this region include the Eastern Ontario Health, Hastings Prince Edward Public Health, Kingston, Frontenac, and Lennox & Addington Public Health, Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health, Ottawa Public Health, and Renfrew County and District Health Units. By reviewing data from 2016 to the latest available data, which is currently 2021 quarter 2, as well as doing a spatial analysis of the types of services available across Eastern Ontario, conclusions could be made about the evolving state of substance use in these regions. Based on these results, areas which require more thorough, locally driven assessments of their substance use services and factors influencing these rates could be identified, as the well-established rural health indicators can only provide foundational understanding of the data.

When reviewing the distribution of services across Eastern Ontario, as expected, the majority of resources are located in Ottawa, the largest city centre. Only publicly funded services were considered as they are more equally available to all populations whereas private sector health services like private treatment centres are less accessible for lower income individuals. Mental health services, community health centres, and harm reduction programs were concentrated in Ottawa and the surrounding area, with these services unevenly scattered amongst the rest of the region. Harm reduction services in Ottawa and the surrounding region as well as the city of Kingston were not included in our data. The Ottawa Public Health region offers over 110 services providing supplies, education, other resources encouraging safer use (90). This data was not included as the priority of this study is services accessible to rural communities. Due to the nature of harm reduction services, urban centres are not often feasible options as these resources are required quite frequently and in-person. For example, harm reduction supplies need to be replenished often, and safe consumption sites cannot be properly utilized with geographic distance. The Hastings and Prince Edward Counties Health Unit had the most offered services dispersed across the region, as the southern region has

many harm reduction resources spread fairly evenly across the area. The northern part of the public health unit is still relatively bare, with services only available in Bancroft. The KFL&A health unit only has five services offered outside of Kingston, and three are in Napanee. The rest of the public health unit does not have any known harm reduction services, which is a significant overlooked area. The Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit has a greater number of harm reduction services available when compared to KFL&A, but they are still predominantly concentrated in population centres. There are still large areas with limited access to these resources. Similarly, the Renfrew County and District and Eastern Ontario Health Units have clusters of harm reduction services in their population centres and then no services readily available to the rest of the region. Overall, harm reduction services need to be better implemented across the Eastern Ontario public health units to be an accessible and effective treatment method for substance use and addiction.

When utilizing Health Canada's "Interactive Map: Canada's response to the opioid overdose crisis", prevention and harm reduction, treatment, and enforcement services can be visualized across Canada. From this data, the only services offered in Eastern Ontario by the Government of Canada are in Ottawa and Kingston (91). This data exemplifies the lack of services available outside of the urban centres and the need for greater federal support in responding to the opioid crisis. This data only includes Government of Canada programs and services, so does not illustrate the full scope of services available as there are many provincially and locally organized initiatives not represented. This highlights the need for coordination of substance use resources from a federal to local level to create more comprehensive care and easier to navigate health system for better treatment access and retention.

When reviewing data collected in this report, the local and provincial services available can be considered as well. There are less substantial clusters of services in the smaller urban population centres such as Cornwall, Brockville, Pembroke, Kingston, and Belleville. Outside of urban centres, there are the most community health centres in the Eastern Ontario Health Unit which have a wider distribution than the other public health units evaluated. More than half of the community health centres in the Eastern Ontario Health Unit predominantly offer francophone services, but there are no formal francophone clinics in any other regions. The effective distribution of these francophone services is difficult to evaluate as data outlining the francophone populations in Eastern Ontario is limited, but it has been shown that a great proportion of francophone Ontarians reside in the eastern-most region of Ontario closest to Quebec. In 2016, a study concluded that 43.1% of francophones in Ontario reside in Eastern Ontario, making this region contain the highest concentration of French-speaking Ontarians (92). These clinics are therefore serving an established francophone region, but it would be beneficial to this often-overlooked population for further analysis across Ontario to ensure there are no large gaps outside of the Eastern Ontario Health Unit.

The only specialized Indigenous community health centres are found in Ottawa and Cornwall, so limited culturally centred substance use supports for substance use are available in Eastern Ontario. There are multiple cultural healing centres in Northern Ontario as well as Central Ontario in urban centres like Toronto, but these programs require Indigenous peoples living in Eastern Ontario to displace themselves away from their support system which, as discussed previously, usually does more harm than benefit. The Hope for Wellness Help Line is targeted towards Indigenous peoples across Canada and offers 24/7 immediate intervention for crises and offers counselling which can be utilized for severe mental health or addictions issues, connecting users to other wellness supports nearby. If cellular service or internet access is limited for rural residents this service may not be accessible to them, but in cases where this is not a barrier, it can provide ample support to Indigenous-identifying citizens across the country especially as multiple language options are available.

There are various virtual resources which have gained momentum in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. In most of the public health units examined, there are limited virtual programs developed for that specific region, but Ontario-wide as well as Canada-wide services are available to these residents. 211 Ontario, ConnexOntario, Wellness Together Canada, and Telehealth Ontario all offer 24/7 helplines and other virtual services to all Ontarians which can assist with crises and referrals to applicable services for further support (93). Hastings Prince Edward County Public Health provides two district-specific services for addictions and mental health support. Addictions and Mental Health Services Hastings Prince Edward provides a 24/7 helpline, drop-in centres in Belleville, Trenton, Picton Centre Hastings and North Hastings, and virtual referral services. The Crisis Intervention Centre is associated with the Hastings and Prince Edward hospitals and also provides a 24/7 crisis phone line which can provide assessments, referrals, and information about other services available (94). The Kingston, Frontenac, and Lennox & Addington Public Health Unit has addictions and mental health crisis lines for the Kingston & Frontenac and Lennox & Addington regions (95). The Lanark, Leeds & Grenville Counties have a distress crisis line, but is not specifically to support substance use, instead they are targeted to mental health emergencies. These crisis lines are critical for mental health support, but more extensive virtual care options should be developed in these regions

which provide longer term care options and improve access to other health services. The other Public Health Units do not provide region-specified virtual resources, but AccessMHA is a virtual resource targeted towards all residents of Eastern Ontario in need of mental health and/or substance use services. Both online resources and phone appointments are utilized to connect patients to necessary services as well as educational tools to support the needs of Eastern Ontario residents. It should be noted that of all the public health unit websites, only the Ottawa Public Health Unit mentions this resource even though it is intended for all of Eastern Ontario. Considering most of the Public Health Units only offer Ontario or Canada-wide virtual addictions services, it would be suggested that these public health units update the virtual resources available especially ones like AccessMHA which are aimed towards Eastern Ontario.

One of the principal initiatives recently led by the Ontario government was the expansion of Rapid Access Addictions Medicine (RAAM) Clinics as a more accessible substance use disorder resource. Amongst the 66 clinics, there are only five clinics within the entire Eastern Ontario region. The clinics available are in Brockville, Kingston, Belleville, and two in Ottawa. None of these clinics are within rural communities nor provide outreach programs to these areas. Similarly, there are five consumption and treatment service centres which provides supervised drug consumption services in Eastern Ontario with four in Ottawa and one in Kingston, both urban centres. There is currently an open application in the review stage for a mobile supervised drug consumption site in Bancroft, Ontario to serve the Hastings community, but at the time of writing, this site has no sign of opening in the near future (96). Even with research supporting the effectiveness of safe consumption services and reduction of harm seen implementing these resources, the process of government approval is strict and inefficient

making it difficult to utilize this public health measure. Consumption and treatment service centres have also shown to be key in coordination of services as education and referrals are prioritized and fundamental to their harm reduction approach. The other main in-person services include treatment centres, harm reduction supply distribution centres, mental health and counselling services, pharmaceutical intervention distributors, and detoxification centres.

The rate of opioid-related harms was reviewed over the past five years to gain a better perspective on the impact of opioid use on Eastern Ontario and if it is comparable to the increases seen nationwide. By applying the rural contexts of substance use discussed previously, these rates can supplement the known unique factors influencing addiction and substance use in rural communities and conclusions about potential next steps can be made. Comparisons were made from various time periods to gain insight on different social factors and overall change over time. In 2016, British Columbia declared a public health emergency due to increased opioid-related overdose deaths, whereas Ontario did not declare a state of emergency until 2020. A comparison of 2016 to 2020 was therefore made to observe the trends in Ontario since opioid-related harms were on the rise in Canada. A 2019 to 2020 comparison was made to observe the change in opioid-related harms during the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic. Lastly, comparison between the first quarter and second quarter of 2021 to gain insight on the current state of opioid use using the most updated data available. Data was classified into six rate ranges based on the data of the oldest year to effectively view change over time (see Appendix 1).

Overall, emergency department visits and deaths have substantially increased between all the time periods used (Table 1 and 3). Hospitalizations saw less consistent trends with a fair number of decreasing rates especially within Renfrew County and Hastings Prince Edward Public Health Units (Table 2). There could be many factors influencing these statistics including marginalized populations feeling averse to hospital settings due to trends of stigmatization, the lack of proximity to hospitals in many of the public health units examined, or community initiatives providing adequate care to not require as heavy reliance on hospitals for substance use. Emergency department visits would be less affected by these factors as overdose events require immediate medical intervention with minimal input from the patient. Self-discharge is commonly seen amongst people who use drugs once able to leave the emergency department, further decreasing hospitalizations. Opioid-related emergency department visit rates increased across all public health units. This data aligns with growing toxic illicit drug supply reported across Canada and escalating use of fentanyl and other more potent synthetic opioids over the past 5 years. When considering these statistics with the distribution of hospitals, it is difficult to apply the results to rural communities as a great area of these Public Health Units do not have rapid access to emergency departments. In the case of overdose events, immediate medical attention is required, so travel time to a hospital would need to be limited, making it less likely rural residents would use these health facilities. This could highlight the potential gap in emergency overdose intervention for rural communities, as death rates are rapidly climbing in these areas and as seen previously, harm reduction services are limited making safe use less obtainable.

The immense increase in opioid-related deaths is of greatest concern in this data, with all the public health units analysed having an increase of over 110% from 2016 to 2020 (Table 3). Renfrew county has seen the largest increase with a 228.57% increase in opioid-related deaths. From the first quarter of 2021 to the second quarter alone there was a 148.98% increase in opioid-related deaths in Renfrew County and District Health Unit. The only negative percentage change was seen between 2021's quarter 1 and quarter 2 in Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit, but not shown is that between quarter 4 of 2020 and quarter 1 of 2021 there was a 404.30% increase, and the other time periods reviewed all saw positive changes making this decrease not representative of the overall trends in this region. A dramatic increase in opioid-related deaths and emergency department visits was seen from 2019 to 2020, and when considering the negative implications of the pandemic on mental health, access to supports, and the illicit drug supply as discussed in Report 1, these results are as expected.

When using the map function on the Ontario Public Health Interactive Opioid Tool, the data appears fairly consistent across the province, with high rates seen in almost every public health unit. The rate range presented by Ontario Public Health demonstrates the severity of opioid-related harms when considering ideal rates and the goal rates from a public health perspective, but this presentation does not give insight on what the data means for each public health unit relative to the other regions in Ontario. When analysing the data in ArcGIS online, the rates can be better visualized as the rate ranges can be set to better compare between public health units as opposed to comparing each public health unit to the rate threshold determined by public health. By classifying the data into six equal interval classes based on the Ontario-wide rates seen in 2016, 2018, and then 2020, it appears that Eastern Ontario has less severe rates when compared the Northern Ontario and Central Ontario. Although the rates of opioid harms in Eastern Ontario are relatively lower when reviewing the static yearly data

independent of time, when reviewing the data across time it can be concluded that opioid use and addictions are rapidly evolving in these regions and still requires immediate intervention. This data was visualized in six equal-interval classes based on the 2016 data for comparison. Especially when considering the distribution of services in these regions, the greatly increasing rates of the more rural public health units of Eastern Ontario are of particular concern, with the need for more integration of health services and specialized evidence-based resources both inperson and virtually to effectively address substance use and addictions within these areas. Emphasis on the vulnerable populations in these communities and further collaborative research with the communities directly is necessary to developing services which are appropriate for a rural context and culturally relevant.

Conclusions

Overall, the data reviewed in this study demonstrated the research gaps in rural communities as well as the lack of substance use services outside of urban centres. Medically based research has been rapidly expanding in addictions and substance use, providing many evidence-based treatment methods, but the even distribution and integration of these services has not been effectively executed across Ontario as of yet. The current system of care leaves many deficits when addressing substance use disorder, especially for rural and remote communities, which has recently been better documented in Northern Ontario. The expansion of research into Northern Ontario is incredibly valuable, but this project demonstrates that further development is needed, extending into other rural communities across Ontario like in Eastern Ontario. Further expansion of telemedicine programs would be recommended for more rapid intervention and to supplement these overlooked regions until further reform is achieved. The Rural Health Hub and Patient Medical Home care concepts could also be used as foundation for an improved network of care when addressing substance use across all of Ontario. Better collaboration with local organizations and health initiatives would create a more effective system of data collection, expansion of services and resources available, and refinement of urban-focused care methods to serve unique rural communities in a more comprehensive way.

References

- Pearson C, Janz T, Ali J. Mental and substance use disorders in Canada Health at a Glance.
 2013 [cited 2021 Nov 12]; Available from: www.statcan.gc.ca,
- 2. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). Interactive Opioid Tool [Internet]. Queen's Printer for Ontario. 2020 [cited 2021 Nov 13]. Available from: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/substance-use/interactive-opioid-tool
- 3. Stockwell T, Dorocicz J, Sherk A, Sorge J, Zhao J. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms (2015-2017) [report]. 2015 [cited 2021 Nov 13]; Available from: www.ccsa.ca
- Morris H, Hyshka E, Schulz P, Jenkins E, Haines-Saah RJ. "It's a Bit of a Double-Edged Sword": Motivation and Personal Impact of Bereaved Mothers' Advocacy for Drug Policy Reform. Qual Health Res [Internet]. 2021 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Nov 12];31(10):1812–22. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8446895/
- Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Substance Use Treatment Capacity in Canada Key Findings [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Nov 12]. Available from: www.ccsa.ca•www.ccdus.ca
- Connery HS, McHugh RK, Reilly M, Shin S, Greenfield SF. Substance Use Disorders in Global Mental Health Delivery: Epidemiology, Treatment Gap, and Implementation of Evidence-Based Treatments. Harv Rev Psychiatry [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Jan 14];28(5):316. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8324330/
- United Nations Office On Drugs & Crime. World Drug Report 2021 [Internet]. CrimRxiv. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 17]. Available from: https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/data-andanalysis/wdr2021.html
- Probst C, Rehm J. Alcohol use, opioid overdose and socioeconomic status in Canada: A threat to life expectancy? [Internet]. Vol. 190, CMAJ. Canadian Medical Association; 2018 [cited 2022 Jan 15]. p. E1294–5. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6217603/
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Apparent opioid and stimulant toxicity deaths: Surveillance of opioid-and stimulant-related harms in Canada. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 15]; Available from: https://healthinfobase.canada.ca/src/doc/SRHD/UpdateDeathsSep2021.pdf
- 10. Abidi M, Xue Q, Benedict L. Decriminalization of Drugs as a Harm Reduction Approach in Canada? Glob Heal Annu Rev. 2020;1(5):4.
- 11. Bonn M, Palayew A, Bartlett S, Brothers TD, Touesnard N, Tyndall &mark. Addressing the syndemic of hiv, hepatitis c, overdose, and covid-19 among people who use drugs: The potential roles for decriminalization and safe supply. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2020;81(5):556–60.
- 12. Bonn M, Palayew A, Bartlett S, Brothers TD, Touesnard N, Tyndall M. "The Times They Are a-Changin": Addressing Common Misconceptions About the Role of Safe Supply in North America's Overdose Crisis" [Internet]. Vol. 82, Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs. Rutgers University; 2021 [cited 2021 Nov 1]. p. 158–60. Available from: https://www.jsad.com/doi/abs/10.15288/jsad.2021.82.158
- 13. Hawke LD, Cleverley K, Settipani C, Rice M, Henderson J. Youth friendliness in mental

health and addiction services: protocol for a scoping review. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Jan 14];7(9). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28947459/

- 14. Reaume-Zimmer P, Chandrasena R, Malla A, Joober R, Boksa P, Shah JL, et al. Transforming youth mental health care in a semi-urban and rural region of Canada: A service description of ACCESS Open Minds Chatham-Kent. Early Interv Psychiatry [Internet]. 2019 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Oct 23];13(S1):48–55. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/eip.12818
- 15. Mawani FN, Gilmour H. Validation of self-rated mental health. Health Rep. 2010;21(3):61–75.
- 16. Kim YM, Cho S il. Socioeconomic status, work-life conflict, and mental health. Am J Ind Med [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Jan 22];63(8):703–12. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ajim.23118
- Hao Y, Farah MJ. The affective neuroscience of socioeconomic status: implications for mental health. BJPsych Bull [Internet]. 2020 Oct [cited 2022 Jan 22];44(5):202–7. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/bjpsychbulletin/article/affective-neuroscience-of-socioeconomic-status-implications-for-mentalhealth/A89E4A4784062A2F2BCF659E85FC62CC
- Evans-Lacko S, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Al-Hamzawi A, Alonso J, Benjet C, Bruffaerts R, et al. Socio-economic variations in the mental health treatment gap for people with anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders: Results from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) Surveys HHS Public Access. Psychol Med. 2018;48(9):1560–71.
- 19. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Why investing in mental health will contribute to Canada's economic prosperity and to the sustainability of our health care system. 2014 [cited 2022 Jan 21]; Available from:

http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/node/742

- Rush B, Urbanoski K, Bassani D, Castel S, Wild TC, Strike C, et al. Prevalence of cooccurring substance use and other mental disorders in the Canadian population. Can J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2022 Jan 24];53(12):800–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19087478/
- Hajizadeh M, Bombay A, Asada Y. Socioeconomic inequalities in psychological distress and suicidal behaviours among Indigenous peoples living off-reserve in Canada. Cmaj. 2019;191(12):E325–36.
- 22. Matsumoto C, O'Driscoll T, Lawrance J, Jakubow A, Madden S, Kelly L. A 5 year retrospective study of emergency department use in Northwest Ontario: a measure of mental health and addictions needs. Can J Emerg Med [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2021 Oct 23];19(5):381–5. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/canadian-journal-of-emergencymedicine/article/5-year-retrospective-study-of-emergency-department-use-in-

northwest-ontario-a-measure-of-mental-health-and-addictionsneeds/ED7EE1BF338A20F401850F073D67C6BE

23. Belzak L, Halverson J. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada Research. Policy Pract [Internet]. 2018;224(6). Available from: https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.38.6.02

- 24. Wendt DC, Marsan S, Parker D, Lizzy KE, Roper J, Mushquash C, et al. Commentary on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on opioid use disorder treatment among Indigenous communities in the United States and Canada. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2021 Feb 1;121:108165.
- Schütz C, Choi F, Jae Song M, Wesarg C, Li K, Krausz M. Living With Dual Diagnosis and Homelessness: Marginalized Within a Marginalized Group. https://doi.org/101080/1550426320191579948 [Internet]. 2019 Apr 3 [cited 2022 Jan 24];15(2):88–94. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15504263.2019.1579948
- 26. Norena M, To MJ, Hwang SW, Palepu A, Nasmith TE, Gadermann A, et al. Clinically significant substance use and residential stability among homeless or vulnerably housed persons in Canada: a longitudinal cohort study. J Public Health (Bangkok) [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Jan 24];43(3):532–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdaa018
- 27. Quayum S, Hunter P, Rivier J, Ian Cooper M, Baker N. Addiction, Substance Use and Homelessness – An Analysis from the Nationally Coordinated Point-in-Time Counts [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 22]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-socialdevelopment/programs/homelessness/publications-bulletins/report-addiction.html
- 28. Howells K, Burrows M, Amp M, Brennan R, Yeung WL, Jackson S, et al. Exploring the experiences of changes to support access to primary health care services and the impact on the quality and safety of care for homeless people during the COVID-19 pandemic: a study protocol for a qualitative mixed methods approach. Int J Equity Health [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Jan 24];20(1):1–9. Available from: https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12939-020-01364-4
- 29. Lamarre A. Literature Review on Withdrawal Management. 2014; (February).
- 30. World Health Organization. Withdrawal Management [Internet]. Clinical Guidelines for Withdrawal Management and Treatment of Drug Dependence in Closed Settings. World Health Organization; 2009 [cited 2022 Jan 25]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK310652/
- Bruneau J, Ahamad K, Goyer M, Poulin G, Selby P, Fischer B, et al. CRISM National Guideline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder [Internet]. CIHR. 2018 [cited 2022 Jan 25]. Available from: http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/44597.html.
- Minozzi S, Amato L, Vecchi S, Davoli M, Kirchmayer U, Verster A. Oral naltrexone maintenance treatment for opioid dependence. Cochrane database Syst Rev [Internet].
 2011 Apr 13 [cited 2022 Jan 26];2011(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21491383/
- 33. British Columbia Ministry of Health. Provincial Guidelines for Biopsychosocialspiritual Withdrawal Management Services: Youth. 2017.
- 34. Province of British Columbia Ministry of Health. Harm Reduction: A British Columbia Community Guide [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2022 Jan 26]. Available from: www.health.gov.bc.ca/prevent/pdf/hrcommunityguide.pdf
- 35. Lourenço L, Kelly M, Tarasuk J, Stairs K, Bryson M, Popovic N, et al. The hepatitis C epidemic in Canada: An overview of recent trends in surveillance, injection drug use,

harm reduction and treatment. Canada Commun Dis Rep [Internet]. 2021 Dec 9 [cited 2022 Jan 26];47(12):505–14. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/reports-publications/canada-communicable-disease-report-ccdr/monthly-issue/2021-47/issue-12-december-2021/ccdrv47i12a01-eng.pdf

- Rzasa Lynn R, Galinkin JL. Naloxone dosage for opioid reversal: current evidence and clinical implications [Internet]. Vol. 9, Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety. SAGE Publications; 2018 [cited 2022 Jan 26]. p. 63–88. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5753997/
- 37. Canadian Mental Health Association Ontario. Reducing Harms: Recognizing and Responding to Opiod... 2018;(June). Available from: https://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/CMHA-Ontario-Reducing-Harms-Updated.pdf
- Moustaqim-Barrette A, Elton-Marshall T, Leece P, Morissette C, Rittenbach K, Buxton J. Environmental Scan: Naloxone Access and Distribution in Canada [Internet]. Vancouver; 2019 [cited 2022 Jan 26]. Available from: https://crism.ca/2019/06/13/naloxonedistribution-
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Applying for funding under the Harm Reduction Fund (HRF) [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 27]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/funding-opportunities/sexuallytransmitted-blood-borne-infections/applying-funding-harm-reduction-fund.html#a3
- 40. Government of Canada. Canadian Supervised Consumption Sites Statistics 2017 to 2019 Data Blog Public Health Infobase | Public Health Agency of Canada [Internet].
 2020 [cited 2022 Jan 27]. Available from: https://health-infobase.canada.ca/datalab/supervised-consumption-sites-blog.html
- Rush B, Tremblay J, Brown D. Development of a Needs-Based Planning Model to Estimate Required Capacity of a Substance Use Treatment System. https://doi.org/1015288/jsads2019.s1851 [Internet]. 2019 Jan 28 [cited 2021 Nov 1];51–63. Available from: https://www.jsad.com/doi/abs/10.15288/jsads.2019.s18.51
- 42. Drug Policy Alliance. Opioid Agonist Treatment (OAT): The Gold Standard for Opioid Use Disorder [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Jan 28]. Available from: https://drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/dpa-oat.pdf
- 43. Eibl JK, Morin K, Leinonen E, Marsh DC. The State of Opioid Agonist Therapy in Canada 20 Years after Federal Oversight. Can J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Jan 28];62(7):444–50. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5528991/
- Bruneau J, Ahamad K, Goyer MÈ, Poulin G, Selby P, Fischer B, et al. Management of opioid use disorders: A national clinical practice guideline. CMAJ [Internet]. 2018 Mar 5 [cited 2022 Jan 28];190(9):E247–57. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/190/9/E247
- Government of Canada. Regulations Amending the Narcotic Control Regulations and the New Classes of Practitioners Regulations (Diacetylmorphine (Heroin) and Methadone):
 SOR/2018-37. Canada Gaz [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Jan 28];152(6). Available from: https://canadagazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p2/2018/2018-03-21/html/sor-dors37-eng.html
- 46. Fleming T, Barker A, Ivsins A, Vakharia S, McNeil R. Stimulant safe supply: A potential opportunity to respond to the overdose epidemic [Internet]. Vol. 17, Harm Reduction Journal. BioMed Central Ltd.; 2020 [cited 2022 Jan 29]. p. 1–6. Available from:

https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-019-0351-1

- 47. Department of Finance Canada. Supporting Canadians and Fighting COVID-19: Fall Economic Statement 2020. 2020;1–223.
- Ivsins A, Boyd J, Beletsky L, McNeil R. Tackling the overdose crisis: The role of safe supply. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Jan 29];80:102769. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7252037/
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US), Office of the Surgeon General (US). Early intervention, treatment, and management of substance use disorders. 2015 [cited 2022 Jan 29];1–63. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK424859/
- 50. Pascoe R V., Rush B, Rotondi NK. Wait times for publicly funded addiction and problem gambling treatment agencies in Ontario, Canada. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2013 Nov 19 [cited 2022 Jan 29];13(1):483. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3874680/
- 51. Quality Ontario H, for Clinical Evaluative Sciences I. Taking Stock: A report on the quality of mental health and addictions services in Ontario. 2015;
- 52. IPSOS, Addictions and Mental Health Ontario (AMHO), Children's Mental Health Ontario (CMHO). Ontario COVID-19 Child, Youth and Adult Mental Health and Addiction Survey. 2020.
- 53. Everything is not OK [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 3]. Available from: https://everythingisnotok.ca/
- 54. Addictions and Mental Health Ontario (AMHO). Publicly Funded Residential Addiction Treatment Investment Guidance 2021-2022 Budget. 2021.
- 55. Children's Mental Health Ontario (CMHO). 2020 Report on Wait Lists and Wait Times For Child and Youth Mental Health Care. 2020.
- 56. Gordon M, Gurnham M, Ngo L, Novak J. Housing and Homelessness Programs in Ontario. 2021. 38 p.
- 57. Public Health Ontario. Homelessness and Health Outcomes: What are the associations? Public Heal Ontario. 2019;
- 58. Connex Ontario, CMHA. Support within Housing Mental Health Wait Times. 2021.
- 59. Health Quality Ontario. Income and Health: Opportunities to achieve health equity in Ontario. 2016 [cited 2022 Feb 3];41. Available from: www.hqontario.ca
- 60. Ontario Campaign 2000. Report Card on Child and Family Poverty in Ontario. 2017.
- 61. Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation. In the Spirit of Reconciliation: The Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation's First 10 Years. Gov Ontario [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Feb 5];42. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/document/spirit-reconciliation-ministry-indigenous-relationsand-reconciliation-first-10-years/indigenous-peoplesontario%0Ahttps://files.ontario.ca/books/in_spirit_of_reconciliation_pdf_0.pdf
- 62. Government of Ontario. Roadmap to wellness: A plan to build Ontario's mental health and addictions system. 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 6];1–36. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/page/roadmap-wellness-plan-build-ontarios-mental-health-andaddictions-system
- 63. McCormick RM. Aboriginal Traditions in the Treatment of Substance Abuse. Can J Couns Psychother [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2022 Jan 30];34(1):1. Available from: https://cjc-

rcc.ucalgary.ca/article/view/58635

- 64. Pearce LA, Min JE, Piske M, Zhou H, Homayra F, Slaunwhite A, et al. Opioid agonist treatment and risk of mortality during opioid overdose public health emergency: Population based retrospective cohort study. BMJ [Internet]. 2020 Mar 31 [cited 2022 Feb 15];368. Available from: https://pharmacyconnection.ca/update-on-opioid-usedisorder-treatment/
- 65. Friesen EL, Kurdyak PA, Gomes T, Kolla G, Leece P, Zhu L, et al. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Opioid-Related Harm in Ontario. 2021 [cited 2022 Feb 15]; Available from: https://doi.
- 66. Coalition of Ontario Psychiatrists. Help Wanted: Ontario needs psychiatrists [Internet]. Coalition of Ontario Psychiatrists. 2018 [cited 2022 Feb 15]. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00457/full
- Booth RG, Richard L, Li L, Shariff SZ, Rayner J. Characteristics of health care related to mental health and substance use disorders among Community Health Centre clients in Ontario: a population-based cohort study. C open [Internet]. 2020 Apr [cited 2022 Jan 14];8(2):E391–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32447281/
- 68. Ziegler BR, Wray AJ, Luginaah I. The ever-changing narrative: Supervised injection site policy making in Ontario, Canada. Int J Drug Policy. 2019 Dec 1;74:98–111.
- 69. Government of Canada. Canadian Supervised Consumption Sites Statistics 2017 to 2019 Data Blog Public Health Infobase | Public Health Agency of Canada [Internet].
 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 16]. Available from: https://health-infobase.canada.ca/datalab/supervised-consumption-sites-blog.html
- 70. Public Health Ontario. Strategies to Mitigate Risk of Substance Use-Related Harms during Periods of Disruption. 2020.
- 71. Canadian Mental Health Association Ontario. Rural and Northern Community Issues in Mental Health [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2022 Mar 26]. Available from: https://ontario.cmha.ca/documents/rural-and-northern-community-issues-in-mentalhealth/
- 72. Anderson JE, Larke SC. Navigating the mental health and addictions maze: a communitybased pilot project of a new role in primary mental health care. Ment Health Fam Med [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2021 Oct 23];6(1):15. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2777588/
- 73. Tara AB, Robert E-M, Mann E, Osduhs HAH. Detailed Findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey Among Ontario Students. 2020 [cited 2022 Mar 26]; Available from: www.camh.ca
- 74. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Alcohol (Canadian Drug Summary).2019 [cited 2022 Mar 26]; Available from: www.ccsa.ca•www.ccdus.ca
- 75. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Opioid-Related Harms in Canada [Internet].
 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 26]. Available from: https://www.cihi.ca/en/smaller-communities-feeling-impact-of-opioid-crisis-in-canada
- 76. Barton A. And the top 10 most dangerous jobs are... The Globe and Mail [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 27]; Available from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/life/the-hotbutton/and-the-top-10-most-dangerous-jobs-are/article16352517/
- 77. McNeill M. Alcohol and Substance Abuse in Rural Canada. Village Missions [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Mar 27]; Available from: https://villagemissions.org/alcohol-substance-

abuse-in-rural-canada/

- Asfaw A, Boden LI. Impact of workplace injury on opioid dependence, abuse, illicit use and overdose: a 36-month retrospective study of insurance claims. Occup Environ Med [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Mar 30];77(9):648. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8011586/
- 79. Ontario Region First Nations and Inuit Health, Chiefs of Ontario. Ontario Region First Nations Addictions Service Needs Assessment. 2009.
- 80. Marsh TN, Eshakakogan C, Eibl JK, Spence M, Morin KA, Gauthier GJ, et al. A study protocol for a quasi-experimental community trial evaluating the integration of indigenous healing practices and a harm reduction approach with principles of seeking safety in an indigenous residential treatment program in Northern Ontario. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Apr 16];18(1):1–9. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-021-00483-7
- 81. Timony PE, Gauthier AP, Hogenbirk JC, Wenghofer EF. Promising quantities, disappointing distribution. Investigating the presence of French-speaking physicians in Ontario's rural Francophone communities. Rural Remote Health [Internet]. 2013 Dec 31 [cited 2022 Apr 16];13(4). Available from: https://www.rrh.org.au/journal/article/2543/
- 82. Schiff JW, Turner A. Housing First in Rural Canada [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Apr 16]. Available from: www.TurnerResearchandStrategyInc.com
- 83. Taylor M. How is Rural Homelessness Different from Urban Homelessness? [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Apr 16]. Available from: https://www.homelesshub.ca/blog/how-ruralhomelessness-different-urban-homelessness
- 84. Ontario Hospital Association. Local Health Hubs for Rural and Northern Communities: An integrated service delivery model whose time has come. 2013.
- 85. Newbery S, Malette J. Integration of care in Northern Ontario: Rural health hubs and the patient medical home concept. Can J Rural Med [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 17];26(1):7–13. Available from: https://go-gale-com.proxy.library.carleton.ca/ps/i.do?p=AONE&u=ocul_carleton&id=GALE%7CA6474348 92&v=2.1&it=r
- 86. Government of Ontario. Ontario Announces Eight New Ontario Health Teams [Internet]. Ontario Newsroom. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 17]. Available from: https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1000822/ontario-announces-eight-new-ontariohealth-teams#quotes
- 87. O'Gorman LD, Hogenbirk JC, Warry W. Clinical telemedicine utilization in Ontario over the Ontario telemedicine network. Telemed e-Health [Internet]. 2016 May 25 [cited 2021 Oct 23];22(6):473–9. Available from: https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/tmj.2015.0166
- Goodman A, Cragg S, Corace K, Suschinsky K, Tharmalingam S. Client and Practitioner Experiences and Perceptions of Virtual Services and Supports for Substance Use or Concurrent Disorders During the COVID-19 Pandemic [Internet]. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. 2022 [cited 2022 Apr 17]. Available from:

www.ccsa.ca•www.ccdus.ca

89. Mark TL, Treiman K, Padwa H, Henretty K, Tzeng J, Gilbert M. Addiction Treatment and Telehealth: Review of Efficacy and Provider Insights During the COVID-19 Pandemic.

Psychiatr Serv [Internet]. 2021 Oct 13 [cited 2022 Apr 17]; Available from: https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/full/10.1176/appi.ps.202100088

- 90. Ontario Harm Reduction Distribution Program. Find Supplies [Internet]. Kingston Community Health Centres. [cited 2022 Apr 22]. Available from: https://ohrdp.ca/findsupplies/
- 91. Government of Canada. Interactive map: Canada's response to the opioid crisis [Internet]. Responding to Canada's opioid crisis. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 19]. Available from: https://health.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugsmedication/opioids/responding-canada-opioid-crisis/map.html
- 92. Government of Ontario. Profile of the Francophone population in Ontario 2016 [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/page/profile-francophone-population-ontario-2016
- 93. Get help with substance use Canada.ca [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/get-helpproblematic-substance-use.html#wb-auto-4
- 94. Getting Help | Hastings Prince Edward Public Health [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.hpepublichealth.ca/getting-help/
- 95. Local Resources & Support | Crisis Services Canada [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 22]. Available from: https://www.crisisservicescanada.ca/en/looking-for-local-resourcessupport/
- 96. Supervised consumption sites: Guidance for Application Form Canada.ca [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumption-sites/statusapplication.html#wb-auto-4

Appendix 1: Data Sources and Geographic Analysis

Statistics – Opioid-Related Harms Percentage Change

Table 1. Values presented are percentage change of opioid-related emergency departmentvisits per public health unit from varied time periods indicated. Data collected from OntarioPublic Health Interactive Opioid Tool and statistics calculated using standard percentage changeformula in Microsoft Excel.

Public Health Unit	2016-2020	2019-2020	2021 Q1-2021 Q2
Ottawa Public Health	189.60	67.21	29.03
Renfrew County and District Health Unit	7.22	-13.33	-16.82
Hastings Prince Edward Public Health	206.70	53.92	56.28
Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit	110.54	65.99	69.53
Eastern Ontario Health Unit	51.84	147.31	112.78
KFL&A Public Health	252.98	8.17	32.01

Table 2. Values presented are percentage change of opioid-related hospitalizations per publichealth unit from varied time periods indicated. Data collected from Ontario Public HealthInteractive Opioid Tool and statistics calculated using standard percentage change formula inMicrosoft Excel.

Public Health Unit	2016-2020	2019-2020	2021 Q1-2021 Q2
Ottawa Public Health	-15.74	9.64	53.13
Renfrew County and District Health Unit	-36.70	-7.75	-73.89
Hastings Prince Edward Public Health	-23.95	-27.02	-9.06
Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit	9.70	10.37	-44.50

Eastern Ontario Health Unit	52.73	55.56	273.68
KFL&A Public Health	50.49	-33.19	91.52

Table 3. Values presented are percentage change of opioid-related deaths per public healthunit from varied time periods indicated. Data collected from Ontario Public Health InteractiveOpioid Tool and statistics calculated using standard percentage change formula in MicrosoftExcel.

Public Health Unit	2016-2020	2019-2020	2021 Q1-2021 Q2
Ottawa Public Health	183.33	88.89	15.71
Renfrew County and District Health Unit	228.57	148.65	148.98
Hastings Prince Edward Public Health	131.51	74.23	12.98
Leeds, Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit	112.20	148.57	-39.66
Eastern Ontario Health Unit	179.31	145.45	32.46
KFL&A Public Health	149.37	26.28	70.99

Data Sources

Data was collected from a variety of government sources, peer-reviewed primary literature, review articles, and grey literature. In the ArcGIS Online data analysis, the data was collected from the following sources:

Public health boundaries:

Statistics Canada. Canadian Census Analyser [Internet]. University of Toronto. 2014 [cited 2022 Apr 24]. Available from: http://dc1.chass.utoronto.ca.proxy.library.carleton.ca/census/

Services:

Living Atlas of the World | ArcGIS [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 24]. Available from: https://livingatlas.arcgis.com/en/home/

- Ontario Harm Reduction Distribution Program. Find Supplies [Internet]. Kingston Community Health Centres. [cited 2022 Apr 22]. Available from: https://ohrdp.ca/find-supplies/
- Local Resources & Support | Crisis Services Canada [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 22]. Available from: https://www.crisisservicescanada.ca/en/looking-for-local-resources-support/
- Supervised consumption sites: Guidance for Application Form Canada.ca [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumption-sites/status-application.html#wb-auto-41.
- Getting Help | Hastings Prince Edward Public Health [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 18]. Available from: https://www.hpepublichealth.ca/getting-help/
- Health Services for Ontario thehealthline.ca [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 24]. Available from: https://www.thehealthline.ca/
- Health Equity Charter | Alliance for Healthier Communities [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 24]. Available from: https://www.allianceon.org/community-health-centres

Opioid-related harms data:

- Government of Canada. Interactive map: Canada's response to the opioid crisis [Internet]. Responding to Canada's opioid crisis. 2021 [cited 2022 Apr 19]. Available from: https://health.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugsmedication/opioids/responding-canada-opioid-crisis/map.html
- Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). Interactive Opioid Tool [Internet]. Queen's Printer for Ontario. 2020 [cited 2021 Nov 13]. Available from: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/substance-use/interactiveopioid-tool

Geographical Analysis

To better illustrate the data and make more informative comparisons, geographical

analysis differed between the time periods observed. Every parameter had a different set rate

range to better represent the data. In each time period, the oldest period was first analysed
using ArcGIS Online and altering the style presented. The oldest data was classified into 6 equal interval classes to visualize the spread of the data. This same rate range was then manually applied to the newer data to effectively show change over time. The legends shown display the respective rate ranges.